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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT 

 
 ___________________  

 
No. 10-40525 

 ___________________  
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
                    Plaintiff - Appellee 
 
v. 
 
MARK ISAAC SNARR; EDGAR BALTAZAR GARCIA, 
 
                    Defendants - Appellants 
 

 ________________________  
 

Appeal from the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of Texas 

 ________________________  
 
Before STEWART, Chief Judge, and KING and OWEN, Circuit Judges. 
 
PER CURIAM: 
 
 Mark Isaac Snarr and Edgar Baltazar Garcia were convicted and 

sentenced to death after murdering a fellow inmate at the U.S. Penitentiary in 

Beaumont, Texas. United States v. Snarr, 704 F.3d 368, 377 (5th Cir. 2013). 

On appeal they argued, among other things, that the chief judge of this court 

wrongly denied them additional funding for expert witnesses. See id. at 402. 

We rejected that claim and affirmed. See id. at 404-06. Our mandate issued on 

March 25, 2013. Nearly five years later, the Supreme Court decided Ayestas v. 

Davis, 138 S. Ct. 1080 (2018). It rejected this court’s caselaw holding that 

funding decisions under 18 U.S.C. § 3599(f) are unreviewable as well as the 

“substantial necessity” standard we applied to such decisions. See Ayestas, 128 
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S. Ct. at 1090, 1092-93. Snarr and Garcia contend that Ayestas has rendered 

our decision in this case “demonstrably wrong,” see United States v. Tolliver, 

116 F.3d 120, 123 (5th Cir. 1997), justifying the extraordinary remedy of 

recalling our mandate, see Calderon v. Thompson, 523 U.S. 538, 549-50 (1998); 

5th Cir. R. 41.2. Before us now is their motion to recall the mandate and to file 

an untimely petition for panel rehearing (or, in the alternative, an untimely 

motion for reconsideration of the chief judge’s funding decision). 

 Contrary to the defendants’ contentions, Ayestas has not rendered our 

decision “demonstrably wrong.” In fact, we did review the funding denial, 

concluding that there was no abuse of discretion. See Snarr, 704 F.3d at 404-

06. Moreover, they now focus their argument solely on the alleged denial of 

funding for a prison expert. But our opinion considered and rejected that claim. 

See id. at 405. Snarr and Garcia’s expert psychologist “was able to present 

much, if not all, of the evidence [they] believed to be vital for mitigation 

purposes.” Id. She “provided extensive evidence about the impact on [the 

defendants] of,” among other things, “life in prison.” Id. Nor were Snarr and 

Garcia denied the opportunity to present a prison expert. Although they 

received less than the $196,500 they requested, they ultimately had $85,000 

at their disposal, id. at 403 & n.23—including “$20,000 specifically for prison 

and neurological experts.” Id. at 405 (emphasis added). The defendants were 

relatively free to use their funds as they saw fit and thus were not denied the 

opportunity to present a prison expert. Id. at 405 & n.26. Ayestas in no regard 

renders our decision in this case “demonstrably wrong.” Recall of the 

mandate—a sparingly used “power of last resort”—is not justified here. See 

Calderon, 523 U.S. at 549. 

 Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that the opposed motion of Edgar Garcia 

to recall the mandate is DENIED. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the opposed motion of Edgar Garcia 

for leave to file petition for rehearing out of time is DENIED. 
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 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the opposed alternative motion of 

Edgar Garcia for leave to file an out of time motion for reconsideration of the 

Chief Judge’s funding denial is DENIED. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the opposed motion of Mark Snarr to 

recall the mandate is DENIED. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the opposed motion of Mark Snarr for 

leave to file petition for rehearing out of time is DENIED. 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the opposed alternative motion of 

Mark Snarr for leave to file an out of time motion for reconsideration of the 

Chief Judge’s funding denial is DENIED. 

 

      Case: 10-40525      Document: 00514569705     Page: 3     Date Filed: 07/25/2018

A-3



368 704 FEDERAL REPORTER, 3d SERIES

,

UNITED STATES of America,
Plaintiff–Appellee

v.

Mark Isaac SNARR;  Edgar Baltazar
Garcia, Defendants–Appellants.

No. 10–40525.

United States Court of Appeals,
Fifth Circuit.

Jan. 8, 2013.

Background:  Defendants were convicted
in a joint jury trial in the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of
Texas, Marcia A. Crone, J., of killing fel-
low inmate at federal penitentiary, and
they were both sentenced to death. Defen-
dants appealed.
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369U.S. v. SNARR
Cite as 704 F.3d 368 (5th Cir. 2013)

Holdings:  The Court of Appeals, King,
Circuit Judge, held that:

(1) court’s dismissal for cause of several
jurors was appropriate;

(2) defendants were not denied right to
impartial jury;

(3) evidence supported finding of premedi-
tation, precluding lesser-included-of-
fense instruction regarding second-de-
gree murder;

(4) evidence supported finding of serious
physical abuse as aggravating factor;

(5) evidence supported finding of future
dangerousness as non-statutory aggra-
vating factor;

(6) possibility of ‘‘spillover effect’’ related
to each defendant’s criminal history
was remote, for purposes of severance
motion;

(7) court appropriately instructed jury to
consider evidence of each defendant’s
guilt separately and individually;

(8) court appropriately exclude certain evi-
dence regarding victim’s poor charac-
ter; and

(9) defendants were afforded necessary
funding to present their claims.

Affirmed.

1. Sentencing and Punishment O1652,
1771, 1786

At the first stage of the Federal
Death Penalty Act’s (FDPA’s) separate
post-conviction sentencing proceeding for
those convicted of homicide, known as the
‘‘eligibility phase,’’ the jury must unani-
mously find beyond a reasonable doubt
that:  (1) the victim’s death resulted from
the defendant’s intentional engagement in
life-threatening activity;  and (2) one or
more of the aggravating factors proposed
by the government is present.  18
U.S.C.A. § 3593(b).

2. Sentencing and Punishment O1658

If, at the first stage of the Federal
Death Penalty Act’s (FDPA’s) separate
post-conviction sentencing proceeding for
those convicted of homicide, known as the
‘‘eligibility phase,’’ the jury finds that the
victim’s death resulted from the defen-
dant’s intentional engagement in life-
threatening activity and that one or more
aggravating factors is present, the pro-
ceeding moves to the second stage, known
as the ‘‘selection phase,’’ at which the jury
must decide whether the aggravating fac-
tors sufficiently outweigh statutory or non-
statutory mitigating factors to warrant a
death sentence or, absent mitigating fac-
tors, whether the aggravators alone war-
rant that sentence.  18 U.S.C.A. § 3593(b).

3. Criminal Law O1152.2(2)

District court’s dismissal of a prospec-
tive juror for cause because of his or her
views on capital punishment is reviewed
for abuse of discretion, conferring ‘‘consid-
erable deference’’ to court’s decision.

4. Jury O33(2.15)

Capital defendant’s right to trial by an
impartial jury is violated when a court
universally excuses for cause all members
of the venire who express conscientious
objections to the death penalty.  U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 6.

5. Jury O108

In a capital case, a prospective juror
properly is dismissed if, regardless of the
facts and circumstances of the case, he
indicates that he personally could not im-
pose the death penalty.

6. Jury O97(1)

Dismissing a juror for cause is appro-
priate if the court is left with the definite
impression that a prospective juror would
be unable to faithfully and impartially ap-
ply the law.
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7. Jury O108

Trial court appropriately dismissed
for cause prospective juror from venire in
defendants’ capital murder prosecution,
even though juror stated during defense
counsel’s questioning about her conscien-
tious scruples against death penalty that
she would ‘‘follow the evidence’’ and was
‘‘not going to disregard it,’’ where juror
answered in affirmative when asked
whether her personal feelings against
death penalty would always prevent her
from voting for death penalty, regardless
of what evidence and law instructed.  18
U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111.

8. Jury O108

Trial court appropriately dismissed
for cause prospective juror from venire in
defendants’ capital murder prosecution,
where juror, throughout her written ques-
tionnaire, indicated that she was opposed
to death penalty, that she could not impose
it, and that she ‘‘thought it was God’s job
to put persons to death,’’ and juror never
affirmed that she would be able to return
verdict of death if facts and circumstances
warranted it under law.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2,
1111.

9. Jury O108

Trial court appropriately dismissed
for cause prospective juror from venire in
defendants’ capital murder prosecution,
even though juror had previously served
on jury that imposed death penalty, where
juror, on his written questionnaire, stated
that he did not think he could impose
death penalty for second time, and, at
individual voir dire, he stated that impos-
ing capital punishment in prior case her
bothered him and had caused him to expe-
rience nightmares and consistently stated
that he was unsure that he could vote for
death penalty.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111.

10. Jury O108

Trial court appropriately dismissed
for cause prospective juror from venire in
defendants’ capital murder prosecution,
even though juror indicated that she would
follow her oath and vote for death penalty
if she ‘‘heard enough bad evidence from
the government,’’ where she also repeated-
ly indicated that she was unsure that she
could vote for death penalty, specifically
stating that ‘‘scariness’’ of capital punish-
ment would impair her ability to vote for
death penalty even if facts justified that
verdict, and, in response to direct question
as to whether she would follow her oath,
answering that she would not.  18
U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111.

11. Jury O108

Trial court appropriately dismissed
for cause prospective juror from venire in
defendants’ capital murder prosecution,
even though juror, after stating that she
had ‘‘religious problem’’ with imposing cap-
ital punishment unless case involved child
or act of domestic violence, explained that
she was willing to keep open mind that
there might be other cases that could war-
rant death sentence, where, in response to
direct question as to whether she would be
able to impose death sentence, she replied
‘‘probably not,’’ and also stated that she
would not be able to follow her oath or
court’s instruction if it meant imposing
capital punishment.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2,
1111.

12. Criminal Law O1152.2(2)

Determinations as to the general qual-
ifications of jurors are reviewed for abuse
of discretion.

13. Criminal Law O1139

District court’s legal conclusions are
reviewed de novo.
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14. Criminal Law O1030(2)

Defendants’ constitutional claims were
not raised below and, as such, would be
reviewed only for plain error, which re-
quired considerable deference to district
court.

15. Jury O40

Trial court appropriately dismissed ju-
ror from venire in defendants’ capital mur-
der prosecution, under provision of Jury
Selection and Service Act that permitted
dismissal by reason of mental or physical
infirmity, where juror indicated that his
physical infirmity could interfere with his
ability to concentrate on proceedings,
which was particularly troubling in light of
there being more than one defendant, and
likelihood that trial would be lengthy and
would involve numerous witnesses and ex-
hibits.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111; 28
U.S.C.A. § 1865(b)(4).

16. Jury O85

Court has broad discretion to deter-
mine whether to excuse a juror for cause
under Jury Selection and Service Act.  28
U.S.C.A. § 1865(b)(4).

17. Civil Rights O1058, 1364

Trial court did not violate Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA) when it dis-
missed juror from venire in defendants’
capital murder prosecution due to his
physical infirmity;  ADA applied only to
‘‘public entities,’’ which was defined in
ADA as ‘‘any State or local government,’’
‘‘any department, agency, special purpose
district, or other instrumentality of a State
or States or local government,’’ and ‘‘the
National Railroad Passenger Corporation,
and any commuter authority,’’ so that, oth-
er than National Railroad Passenger Cor-
poration, term did not include any agency
or department of federal government.  18
U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111; Americans with Dis-

abilities Act of 1990, §§ 201(1), 202, 42
U.S.C.A. §§ 12131(1), 12132.

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

18. Criminal Law O1030(1)

Under plain-error review, the defen-
dant must establish:  (1) an error;  (2) that
is clear and obvious;  and (3) that affected
his substantial rights.

19. Constitutional Law O3831

 Jury O33(1.1)

To prevail on either a theory that jury
selection violates the defendant’s Sixth
Amendment right to be tried by an impar-
tial jury drawn from sources reflecting a
fair cross section of the community or
violates the defendant’s equal protection
rights, the defendant must demonstrate
not only that the excluded persons are
members of a distinctive class, but also
that the class is disproportionately under-
represented due to procedures in the jury
selection process that work to exclude
class members.  U.S.C.A. Const.Amends.
5, 6.

20. Constitutional Law O3830

 Jury O33(1.10)

Defendants advanced only conclusory
argument that dismissing juror from veni-
re in their capital murder prosecution, on
basis of his physical infirmity that involved
need to urinate frequently, established pri-
ma facie violation of both fair cross-section
requirement of Sixth Amendment and
Equal Protection Clause of Fourteenth
Amendment;  individuals with frequent
need to urinate did not constitute distinct
class, and thus, by extension, defendants
were unable to provide any statistical data
as to representation of this supposed class
on venires or in community at large.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amends. 6, 14; 18 U.S.C.A.
§§ 2, 1111.
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21. Criminal Law O1152.2(2)

Court of Appeals reviews the district
court’s ruling on jury impartiality for man-
ifest abuse of discretion, for which the
deference due to the district court is at its
pinnacle.

22. Criminal Law O1166.18

District court’s erroneous refusal to
grant a defendant’s challenge for cause is
only grounds for reversal if the defendant
establishes that the jury which actually sat
to decide his guilt or innocence was not
impartial.

23. Jury O135

Defendant’s exercise of peremptory
challenges is not denied or impaired when
the defendant chooses to use a peremptory
challenge to remove a juror who should
have been excused for cause.

24. Jury O33(5.15)

Defendants were not denied their
right to impartial jury in capital murder
prosecution, based on their inability to ex-
ercise peremptory challenge against one
prospective juror because they had partial-
ly exhausted their challenges on three oth-
er prospective jurors whom they believed
should have been dismissed for cause;
even if those three prospective jurors
should have been dismissed for cause, de-
fendants were still required to show that
seated jury was not impartial, and defen-
dants made no showing to that effect.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6; 18 U.S.C.A.
§§ 2, 1111; Fed.Rules Cr.Proc.Rule
24(b)(1), 18 U.S.C.A.

25. Criminal Law O1139

Court of Appeals reviews de novo a
district court’s determination of whether a
particular offense is a lesser included of-
fense of a charged offense.

26. Criminal Law O1152.21(1)
Court of Appeals reviews for abuse of

discretion a district court’s determination
as to whether a jury could rationally acquit
on the greater offense yet convict on the
lesser.

27. Criminal Law O795(1.5, 2.5)
Defendant is only entitled to a lesser-

included-offense instruction if (1) the ele-
ments of the lesser offense are a subset of
the elements of the charged offense and
(2) the evidence at trial is such that a jury
could rationally find the defendant guilty
of the lesser offense yet acquit him of the
greater.

28. Criminal Law O795(2.5)
While a defendant’s request for a less-

er included offense charge should be freely
granted, there must be a rational basis for
the lesser charge and it cannot serve
merely as a device for defendant to invoke
the mercy-dispensing prerogative of the
jury.

29. Homicide O535, 536
Killing is ‘‘premeditated’’ under the

federal murder statute when it is the re-
sult of planning or deliberation;  the
amount of time needed for premeditation
of a killing depends on the person and the
circumstances, although it must be long
enough for the killer, after forming the
intent to kill, to be fully conscious of that
intent.  18 U.S.C.A. § 1111(a).

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

30. Criminal Law O795(2.1)
Lesser-included-offense instructions

are proper only when the evidence war-
rants them.

31. Homicide O1456
Evidence was sufficient to support

finding that defendants’ killing of fellow
inmate was premeditated, and thus trial

A-8



373U.S. v. SNARR
Cite as 704 F.3d 368 (5th Cir. 2013)

court in capital murder prosecution appro-
priately denied defendants’ request for
lesser-included-offense instruction regard-
ing second-degree murder;  both defen-
dants were classified as dangerous, and
thus were housed in prison’s special hous-
ing unit (SHU), there was evidence that
chaotic situation in SHU, including sound-
ing of fire alarms and flooding, was in-
mate-created, and testimony indicated that
defendants had acquired ‘‘shanks’’ earlier
on day of stabbing, that defendants told
victim that they were going to kill him,
that one defendant yelled after stabbing,
‘‘That’s how you get your enemy,’’ and
‘‘Dude disrespected us, and that’s what he
got,’’ and that defendants later told investi-
gator that they did not intend to hurt staff
members.  18 U.S.C.A. § 1111(a).

32. Sentencing and Punishment
O1789(6, 8)

Court of Appeals reviews jury find-
ings of aggravating factors at sentencing
stage of capital trial by asking whether,
after viewing the evidence in a light most
favorable to the government, any rational
trier of fact could have found the existence
of the aggravating circumstance beyond a
reasonable doubt.

33. Sentencing and Punishment O1684
For serious physical abuse to be ag-

gravating factor at penalty phase of a mur-
der prosecution, the defendant must inflict
suffering or mutilation above and beyond
that necessary to cause death, and the
defendant must intend such gratuitous vio-
lence.  18 U.S.C.A. § 3592(c)(6).

34. Sentencing and Punishment O1772
Evidence supported jury’s finding of

serious physical abuse as aggravating fac-
tor at penalty phase of defendants’ capital
murder prosecution, where jury saw video
of defendants savagely stabbing fellow in-
mate and photographs taken shortly after
attack that showed victim’s blood pooled

on prison floor and running down walls,
prison official testified that he tried to
persuade defendants to stop attack by re-
peatedly telling them that victim was dead
and that defendants ignored him, smirked,
and continued attack, another inmate testi-
fied that victim’s corpse was ‘‘a human
being that was no longer a human’’ be-
cause victim’s whole ‘‘body was a stab
wound,’’ and pathologist testified that,
while stab to victim’s heart was ultimate
cause of death, several of his wounds could
have been fatal.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111,
3592(c)(6).

35. Sentencing and Punishment O1720

At the sentencing stage of a capital
trial, the evidence regarding non-statutory
aggravating factor of future dangerousness
necessarily touches upon a variety of top-
ics, including the defendant’s juvenile rec-
ord, prior murders and other crimes, and
prison records;  what is essential is that
the jury have before it all possible relevant
information about the individual defendant
whose fate it must determine.  18 U.S.C.A.
§ 3593(c).

36. Sentencing and Punishment O1772

Evidence supported jury’s finding of
future dangerousness, as non-statutory
aggravating factor at penalty phase of
defendants’ capital murder prosecution;
although prison consultant and former
warden in federal system testified that
defendants would likely by moved to spe-
cific maximum security facility where
they would be unable to engage in fur-
ther dangerous activity, former warden at
that maximum security facility testified
that facility’s goal was to prepare inmates
to function in general population of other
prison facilities to which defendants were
likely to be transferred in future, and ex-
tensive evidence indicated that defendants
exhibited pattern of violence and institu-
tional misconduct, including defendants’
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stabbing of fellow inmate and attack on
prison officers that were subject of their
prosecution.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111.

37. Criminal Law O622.6(2), 1148

Court of Appeals reviews a district
court’s grant or denial of severance for
abuse of discretion, pursuant to the prefer-
ence in the federal system for joint trials
of defendants who are indicted together.

38. Criminal Law O622.6(1)
Federal Death Penalty Act (FDPA)

contains no special rules regarding joinder
of codefendants.  18 U.S.C.A. § 3591 et
seq.

39. Criminal Law O622.7(3)
District court should grant a sever-

ance only if there is a serious risk that a
joint trial would compromise a specific tri-
al right of one of the defendants, or pre-
vent the jury from making a reliable judg-
ment about guilt or innocence.  Fed.Rules
Cr.Proc.Rule 14, 18 U.S.C.A.

40. Criminal Law O622.6(3), 622.7(3)
To establish that the district court

abused its discretion in denying a motion
to sever, a defendant must show that:  (1)
the joint trial prejudiced him to such an
extent that the district court could not
provide adequate protection;  and (2) the
prejudice outweighed the government’s in-
terest in economy of judicial administra-
tion.  Fed.Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 14, 18
U.S.C.A.

41. Criminal Law O1166(6)
To warrant vacating a conviction

based on a district court’s refusal to sever
a trial, general claims of prejudice are
insufficient to trigger reversal;  rather, a
defendant must isolate events occurring in
the course of the trial and then demon-
strate that such events caused substantial
prejudice, and that the court’s jury in-
structions did not adequately protect him

or her from any prejudice resulting from
the joint trial.  Fed.Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 14,
18 U.S.C.A.

42. Criminal Law O622.7(10)
To obtain a severance based on the

desire to have a co-defendant testify in his
defense, a defendant must establish:  (1) a
bona fide need for the co-defendant’s testi-
mony;  (2) the substance of the testimony;
(3) the exculpatory effect of the testimony;
and (4) that the co-defendant actually
would testify if the trial were severed.
Fed.Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 14, 18 U.S.C.A.

43. Criminal Law O622.7(10)
Defendants pointed only to their at-

torneys’ statements that each defendant
would have testified in his own defense
had capital murder trial been severed,
which was insufficient to prove that either
defendant would have so testified, and thus
was insufficient to warrant grant of sever-
ance motion.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111; Fed.
Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 14, 18 U.S.C.A.

44. Criminal Law O622.7(8)
Due to manner in which court con-

ducted defendants’ capital murder trial,
possibility of ‘‘spillover effect’’ related to
each defendant’s criminal history was re-
mote, for purposes of defendants’ motion
to sever trial, where, at both eligibility and
selection phases of post-conviction sentenc-
ing proceeding under Federal Death Pen-
alty Act (FDPA), court required govern-
ment to introduce individual evidence
against one defendant before presenting
any evidence as to second defendant, and,
with exception of one joint witness, defen-
dants presented mitigating evidence sepa-
rately.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111, 3593(b);
Fed.Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 14, 18 U.S.C.A.

45. Criminal Law O622.7(8)
By itself, the so-called ‘‘spillover ef-

fect,’’ whereby the jury imputes one defen-
dant’s guilt upon the other, is an insuffi-
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cient predicate for a motion to sever.  Fed.
Rules Cr.Proc.Rule 14, 18 U.S.C.A.

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

46. Criminal Law O793, 1166(6)

Court appropriately instructed jury
that it was required to consider separately
each defendant’s culpability in joint capital
murder trial, precluding reversal due to
court denying defendants’ motion to sever
trial;  court instructed jury that evidence
pertaining to each defendant should be
considered separately and individually fol-
lowing guilt phase, as well as both before
and after eligibility and selection phases of
post-conviction sentencing proceeding un-
der Federal Death Penalty Act (FDPA),
and, in accordance with these instructions,
jury returned separate verdict forms for
each defendant after each phase of trial.
18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111, 3593(b); Fed.Rules
Cr.Proc.Rule 14, 18 U.S.C.A.

47. Criminal Law O1144.15

It is presumed that a jury follows the
instructions given to it.

48. Criminal Law O1139

Constitutional challenges to federal
statutes are reviewed de novo.

49. Sentencing and Punishment O1626

Federal Death Penalty Act’s
(FDPA’s) relaxed evidentiary standard
during a defendant’s capital murder sen-
tencing proceeding is not unconstitutional.
18 U.S.C.A. § 3593(c).

50. Sentencing and Punishment O1782

At a capital murder sentencing hear-
ing conducted pursuant to the Federal
Death Penalty Act (FDPA), the district
court has considerable discretion in con-
trolling the presentation to the jury of the
relevant information in both content and
form.  18 U.S.C.A. § 3593(c).

51. Sentencing and Punishment
O1789(7)

Court of Appeals reviews for abuse of
discretion a district court’s application of
its considerable discretion, at a capital
murder sentencing hearing conducted pur-
suant to the Federal Death Penalty Act
(FDPA), to control the presentation of rel-
evant information to the jury.  18 U.S.C.A.
§ 3593(c).

52. Sentencing and Punishment O1763

Introduction of victim impact evidence
at a capital murder sentencing hearing
under the Federal Death Penalty Act
(FDPA), while enabling the jury to more
meaningfully to assess the defendant’s
moral culpability and blameworthiness, re-
mains bounded by the requirement that it
be relevant, and that its probative value
outweigh the danger of creating unfair
prejudice, confusing the issues, or mislead-
ing the jury.  18 U.S.C.A. § 3593(a, c).

53. Sentencing and Punishment O1763

Trial court appropriately excluded
certain ‘‘reverse victim impact’’ evidence
regarding victim’s alleged poor character,
which defendants offered as mitigating evi-
dence in post-conviction sentencing pro-
ceeding under Federal Death Penalty Act
(FDPA) in capital murder prosecution,
where evidence was either irrelevant or
highly prejudicial, and court afforded de-
fendants ample opportunity to introduce
evidence of victim’s ‘‘aggressive and caus-
tic’’ behavior and use of racial insults to-
ward defendants on night before stabbing
incident.  18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111, 3593(c).

54. Sentencing and Punishment O1760

Unlike victim impact evidence, so-
called ‘‘execution impact’’ evidence does
not reflect on the defendant’s background
or character or the circumstances of his
crime, and thus friend or family impact
testimony is not included among the cate-
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gories of mitigating evidence that must be
admitted at sentencing hearing in capital
case.

55. Courts O90(2)
Under rule of orderliness, one panel

of Court of Appeals may not overturn an-
other panel’s decision, absent an interven-
ing change in the law, such as by statutory
amendment or through decision of the
United States Supreme Court or the en
banc Court of Appeals.

56. Criminal Law O1023(3)
Court of Appeals had jurisdiction to

consider defendants’ claim that order of
Court of Appeals chief judge, partially de-
nying and partially reducing funds re-
quested in application to chief judge pursu-
ant to Criminal Justice Act (CJA) for them
to retain experts in their capital murder
trial, violated their due process rights;  de-
fendants did not directly appeal chief
judge’s order, but rather their claim was
that, due to that order, they lacked funds
necessary to present adequate defense,
and thus their appeal related to their ulti-
mate convictions and sentences, which
were final judgments.  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 5; 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111,
3006A(e)(1); 28 U.S.C.A. § 1291.

57. Criminal Law O1147
Court of Appeals reviews for abuse of

discretion a district court’s denial of fund-
ing for expert witnesses under the Crimi-
nal Justice Act (CJA).  18 U.S.C.A.
§ 3006A(e)(1).

58. Criminal Law O1177.6
To demonstrate reversible error on

the basis that he lacked adequate funds for
expert witnesses, a defendant must estab-
lish a reasonable probability that the re-
quested experts would have been of assis-
tance to the defense and that denial of
such expert assistance resulted in a funda-
mentally unfair trial.

59. Constitutional Law O4789(1)

 Costs O302.2(2)

Defendants were afforded necessary
funding to present their claims fairly with-
in adversary system, and thus court order
partially denying and partially reducing
funds for them to retain experts in their
capital murder trial did not violate their
due process rights, where court authorized
defendants $85,000 for experts and investi-
gators and largely permitted them to dis-
tribute those funds as they saw fit, with
only express prohibition that funds could
not be used to hire cultural expert, experts
that defendants presented provided exten-
sive evidence in support of defendants’
claims, and there was no showing that
absence of additional experts rendered tri-
al fundamentally unfair.  U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 5; 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1111,
3006A(e)(1).

Traci Lynne Kenner, Assistant U.S. At-
torney, U.S. Attorney’s Office, Tyler, TX,
Joseph Robert Batte, Jr., Assistant U.S.
Attorney, Kerry M. Klintworth, Assistant
U.S. Attorney, U.S. Attorney’s Office,
Beaumont, TX, for Plaintiff–Appellee.

Douglas Milton Barlow, Attorney, Bar-
low Law Firm, Beaumont, TX, George
Patrick Black, Federal Public Defender,
Tyler, TX, Gerald E. Bourque, Robert A.
Morrow, III, The Woodlands, TX, Jani Jo
Maselli, Houston, TX, for Defendants–Ap-
pellants.

Appeals from the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas.

Before STEWART, Chief Judge, and
KING and OWEN, Circuit Judges.
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KING, Circuit Judge:

Following their joint trial, a jury found
Defendants–Appellants Mark Snarr and
Edgar Garcia guilty of murdering Gabriel
Rhone, a fellow inmate at the United
States Penitentiary in Beaumont, Texas.
After the jury unanimously recommended
capital punishment for each defendant, the
district court sentenced them to death.
Defendants appeal their convictions and
sentences.  For the reasons that follow, we
AFFIRM.

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL
BACKGROUND

On January 21, 2009, a federal grand
jury returned a one-count indictment
against Mark Snarr and Edgar Garcia
(‘‘Defendants’’), charging them with mur-
dering Gabriel Rhone in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1111 and 2. The indictment pro-
vided notice of special findings for both
Snarr and Garcia, and on February 9,
2009, the government filed notice of its
intent to seek the death penalty against
both defendants.

The evidence adduced at trial showed
that, on November 28, 2007, Rhone, Snarr,
and Garcia were incarcerated at the feder-
al penitentiary in Beaumont, Texas.  That
day, as prison guards escorted Snarr and
Garcia from outdoor recreation areas to
their respective cells, Defendants escaped
from their handcuffs and produced hand-
made weapons known as ‘‘shanks.’’  Un-
aware that Garcia had a shank, and believ-
ing that Snarr was preparing to attack
Garcia, correctional officer Dewight Balo-
ney positioned himself between the two
men, with his back toward Garcia.  Garcia
then stabbed Baloney in the back, as Snarr
attacked him from the front.  Defendants
continued assaulting Baloney as he strug-
gled to reach a secure location, ultimately
stabbing him twenty-three times in ap-
proximately fifteen seconds.  After Balo-

ney escaped, Defendants turned their at-
tention to correctional officer Josh
McQueen.  Snarr stabbed McQueen while
demanding from him keys to the inmates’
cells.  When McQueen refused to surren-
der his keys, Garcia stabbed him, at which
point Snarr was able to rip McQueen’s
keys from his duty belt.

Defendants then ran down a corridor to
Rhone’s cell.  Snarr attempted for almost
a full minute to unlock the cell door, while
Garcia—who, according to one witness, ap-
peared ‘‘to be taunting the inmates’’ in the
cell with his shank—yelled either ‘‘I’m go-
ing to kill you,’’ or ‘‘We going to kill you.’’
When Defendants finally opened the door,
Rhone fled from his cell and Defendants
began stabbing him.  One witness to the
events testified that, in the midst of the
attack, Defendants ‘‘were in a frenzy TTT
repeatedly stabbing [Rhone] over and
over.’’  Despite officers’ commands that
they stop, Defendants continued their as-
sault on Rhone until they saw that officers
were preparing to use riot control equip-
ment to clear the area.  As Defendants
retreated, one of them yelled, ‘‘That’s how
you get your enemy,’’ and Snarr ex-
claimed, ‘‘Dude disrespected us, and that’s
what he got.’’

Only then were officers able to attend to
Rhone, who by that time already appeared
to be dead.  Prison officials attempted to
resuscitate him, but shortly after the at-
tack, Rhone was pronounced dead at a
Beaumont hospital.  An autopsy revealed
that he had sustained fifty stab wounds:
eighteen to the front of his body, and
thirty-two to the back.  The cause of
Rhone’s death was listed as ‘‘multiple stab
wounds of the heart, lung, and liver,’’ with
the injury to his heart being the fatal
wound.

[1, 2] On May 7, 2010, jurors deliberat-
ed for just over one hour before returning
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guilty verdicts against both Snarr and Gar-
cia for Rhone’s murder.  During the eligi-
bility phase of the trial, the government
submitted several statutory aggravating
factors to establish Defendants’ eligibility
for the death penalty.1  These included, for
both defendants, that the offense had been
committed:  (1) ‘‘in an especially heinous,
cruel, or depraved manner in that it in-
volved torture or serious physical abuse to
the victim,’’ and (2) ‘‘after substantial plan-
ning and premeditation to cause the death
of a person.’’  18 U.S.C. § 3592(c)(6), (9).
To substantiate these factors, the govern-
ment introduced a number of exhibits and
presented several witnesses over a two-
day period.

On May 12, 2010, the jury unanimously
concluded that Defendants were eligible
for the death penalty.  That same day, the
district court began the selection phase of
Defendants’ trial.  In support of its posi-
tion that Defendants’ crime warranted the
death penalty, the government alleged the
existence of multiple non-statutory aggra-
vating factors, including, as relevant here,
that each defendant ‘‘poses a continuing
and serious threat to the lives and safety
of others because it is likely that he will
commit criminal acts of violence in the
future.’’  On May 21, 2010, the jury unani-
mously selected the death penalty for both
Snarr and Garcia.  The district court sub-
sequently sentenced Defendants to death
in accordance with the jury’s recommenda-
tion.  Defendants now appeal their convic-
tions and sentences.

II. ANALYSIS

On appeal, Defendants raise a host of
challenges, which broadly may be charac-
terized as follows:  (1) given numerous er-
rors committed during the jury selection
process, Defendants were denied their con-
stitutional rights to an impartial jury, due
process, and equal protection;  (2) the dis-
trict court improperly denied Defendants’
request for a lesser-included-offense in-
struction;  (3) the government presented
insufficient evidence to support the jury’s
conclusion regarding the applicability of
three aggravating factors;  (4) the district
court abused its discretion in denying De-
fendants’ motion for severance;  (5) the
Federal Death Penalty Act (‘‘FDPA’’) is
unconstitutional;  (6) the district court im-
properly excluded character evidence re-
lated to the victim;  (7) the district court
abused its discretion in excluding Garcia’s
‘‘execution impact’’ evidence;  and (8) this
court’s chief judge denied Defendants due
process by overruling the district court
and issuing an order partially reducing and
partially denying funds Garcia requested
for the retention of certain investigators
and experts.  We consider each of these
claims in turn.

A. Jury Selection Challenges

Defendants assign three errors to the
district court in connection with the jury
selection process.  First, Defendants ar-
gue that the court improperly excluded for

1. The Federal Death Penalty Act provides a
separate post-conviction sentencing proceed-
ing for those convicted of homicide.  18
U.S.C. § 3593(b).  In the proceeding’s first
stage, known as the ‘‘eligibility’’ phase, ‘‘a
jury must unanimously find beyond a reason-
able doubt that:  (1) the victim’s death result-
ed from the defendant’s intentional engage-
ment in life-threatening activity;  and (2) one
or more of the aggravating factors proposed
by the Government is present.’’  United States

v. Davis, 609 F.3d 663, 673 (5th Cir.2010).
‘‘If the jury returns both findings, the pro-
ceeding moves to the second or ‘selection’
phase.  Here, the jury decides whether the
aggravating factors sufficiently outweigh stat-
utory or non-statutory mitigating factors to
warrant a death sentence or, absent mitigat-
ing factors, whether the aggravators alone
warrant that sentence.’’  Id. (internal citation
omitted).
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cause five prospective jurors who ex-
pressed reservations about imposing the
death penalty.  Second, Defendants con-
tend that the court erred in dismissing a
venire person who indicated that he had a
physical infirmity that would impair his
ability to render effective jury service.2

Finally, Defendants submit that the court
improperly denied their for cause chal-
lenges to three prospective jurors.

(1) Prospective Jurors Dismissed for
Death Penalty Objections

(a) Standard of Review

[3] A district court’s dismissal of a pro-
spective juror for cause because of his or
her views on capital punishment is re-
viewed for abuse of discretion.  United
States v. Bernard, 299 F.3d 467, 474 (5th
Cir.2002).  ‘‘Deference to the trial court is
appropriate because it is in a position to
assess the demeanor of the venire, and of
the individuals who compose it, a factor of
critical importance in assessing the atti-
tude and qualifications of potential jurors.’’
Uttecht v. Brown, 551 U.S. 1, 9, 127 S.Ct.
2218, 167 L.Ed.2d 1014 (2007).  We thus
give ‘‘considerable deference’’ to a district
court’s decision to dismiss a juror based on
his or her opposition to the death penalty.
United States v. Fields, 483 F.3d 313, 357
(5th Cir.2007).

(b) Applicable Law

[4–6] In Witherspoon v. Illinois, the
Supreme Court held that a capital defen-
dant’s right to trial by an impartial jury is
violated when a court universally excuses
for cause all members of the venire who
express conscientious objections to the
death penalty.  391 U.S. 510, 521–22, 88
S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968).  Never-
theless, ‘‘[a] court may excuse a prospec-

tive juror for cause because of his views on
capital punishment if those views would
prevent or substantially impair the per-
formance of his duties as a juror in accor-
dance with the instructions and oath.’’
United States v. Webster, 162 F.3d 308,
340 (5th Cir.1998) (citing Wainwright v.
Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105 S.Ct. 844, 83
L.Ed.2d 841 (1985)).  A prospective juror,
therefore, properly is dismissed if, regard-
less of the facts and circumstances of a
case, he indicates that he personally could
not impose the death penalty.  See Fields,
483 F.3d at 357.  Additionally, because
‘‘many veniremen simply cannot be asked
enough questions to reach the point where
their bias has been made ‘unmistakably
clear,’ ’’ dismissal for cause is also appro-
priate if the court ‘‘is left with the definite
impression that a prospective juror would
be unable to faithfully and impartially ap-
ply the law.’’  Wainwright, 469 U.S. at
425–26, 105 S.Ct. 844.  Accordingly, this
court repeatedly has deemed proper a low-
er court’s dismissal for cause of a prospec-
tive juror who has wavered or given con-
flicting or ambiguous signals as to whether
he or she could sentence a defendant to
death.  See, e.g., United States v. Jackson,
549 F.3d 963, 973 (5th Cir.2008);  Ortiz v.
Quarterman, 504 F.3d 492, 502–03 (5th
Cir.2007);  Bernard, 299 F.3d at 474–75;
Webster, 162 F.3d at 340–41.

(c) Discussion

Here, each member of the venire sub-
mitted answers to a written questionnaire,
after which he or she was questioned by
both government and defense counsel.
Defendants argue that the district court
abused its discretion in dismissing for
cause five prospective jurors who ex-
pressed reservations during this process

2. Defendants actually maintain that two pro-
spective jurors were dismissed based on their
physical infirmities.  As explained in further

detail below, however, the court clearly dis-
missed one of these jurors for his views in
connection with the death penalty.
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about their ability to impose capital pun-
ishment.  As discussed below, we disagree.

[7] The first venire person whose dis-
missal Defendants contest is prospective
juror number three (‘‘Lacy’’).  Although
Defendants acknowledge that Lacy ex-
pressed conscientious scruples against the
death penalty, they argue that when ques-
tioned by defense counsel, Lacy indicated
that she would follow the law and would
answer questions truthfully, even if that
resulted in a death sentence.  Defendants
also emphasize that Lacy indicated that
she would ‘‘follow the evidence’’ and was
‘‘not going to disregard it.’’

Even so, Lacy answered in the affirma-
tive when asked whether her ‘‘personal
feelings against the death penalty would
always prevent [her] from voting for the
death penalty.’’  Further, when asked if
she thought her ‘‘feelings against the death
penalty would substantially impair [her] or
prevent [her] from ever voting for it re-
gardless of what the evidence and the law
instructed,’’ she replied that they would.
The court observed Lacy’s demeanor and
heard her testimony.  That testimony re-
vealed Lacy’s consistent opposition to the
death penalty and her view that, because
of that opposition, she was unable to affirm
that she could faithfully follow her oath as
a juror.  Accordingly, the district court did
not abuse its discretion in excusing her.
See Jackson, 549 F.3d at 973.

[8] Next, Defendants submit that the
court erred in dismissing prospective juror
number sixty-six (‘‘Stephenson’’).  In par-
ticular, Defendants contend that the sum
of Stephenson’s testimony was that ‘‘she

did not know how she felt’’ about the death
penalty and that she ‘‘never said she could
not impose it.’’  Defendants argue that
Stephenson even stated that she could vote
in favor of capital punishment ‘‘if the Holy
Spirit was guiding her’’ to do so.

In excusing her, however, the court em-
phasized that throughout her question-
naire, Stephenson had indicated that she
was opposed to the death penalty, that she
could not impose it, and that she ‘‘thought
it was God’s job to put persons to death.’’
The court correctly explained that Ste-
phenson never affirmed that she would be
able to return a verdict of death if the
facts and circumstances warranted it un-
der the law.  In light of Stephenson’s am-
biguous responses during voir dire, and
her ‘‘strange’’ demeanor, the district court
was unable to ascertain whether—notwith-
standing her opposition to the death penal-
ty—she would be able ‘‘to faithfully and
impartially apply the law.’’  Wainwright,
469 U.S. at 426, 105 S.Ct. 844.  As such,
the court did not abuse its discretion in
excusing her.

[9] Defendants also allege that poten-
tial juror number 130 (‘‘Kimball’’) should
not have been dismissed.3  Kimball previ-
ously had served on a jury that imposed
the death penalty, which Defendants sug-
gest supports their conclusion that Kimball
could have fulfilled his duties impartially
as a juror in this case.  Defendants also
note that Kimball indicated that he gener-
ally favored the death penalty, and he
affirmed that he ‘‘would base a decision to
impose it on the facts and the law in the
case.’’

3. Defendants suggest that Kimball was dis-
missed both because of his reservations about
imposing the death penalty, and because he
had a medical condition that prevented him
from hearing the events that were transpiring
in court.  To be sure, the lower court did
explore Kimball’s hearing impairment and, at

one point, stated that his disability would
‘‘substantially impair[ ] his ability to serve as
a juror.’’  Nevertheless, the district court was
clear that it ultimately dismissed Kimball ‘‘be-
cause of what he said about the death penal-
ty.’’
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Nevertheless, on his questionnaire, Kim-
ball expressed in response to three sepa-
rate questions that he did not think he
could impose the death penalty a second
time.  During individual voir dire, Kimball
testified that he might not be able to vote
for the death penalty even if it was called
for ‘‘under the law and the facts.’’  He
stated that imposing capital punishment in
the first case for which he had served as a
juror had bothered him ‘‘an awful lot,’’ and
had caused him to experience nightmares
wherein he would ‘‘see the defendant’s
face.’’  When asked if he thought his ‘‘per-
sonal feelings would substantially impair
[his] ability to go ahead and vote for the
death penalty,’’ Kimball replied, ‘‘I’m not
really sure.’’ Even under questioning by
defense counsel, Kimball consistently indi-
cated that he did not know whether he
could impose the death penalty in a second
case.  Because Kimball was consistent as
to the fact that his personal feelings about
imposing the death penalty in this case
prevented him from attesting that he
would faithfully and impartially apply the
law, the district court did not abuse its
discretion in dismissing Kimball for cause.4

See Bernard, 299 F.3d at 474–75.

[10] Defendants next maintain that the
district court erred in excusing prospective
juror number 140 (‘‘Furby’’).  Although
Defendants acknowledge that Furby ex-
pressed doubts about her ability to impose
the death penalty, they stress that she also
indicated that she ‘‘would follow [her] oath
and follow the law.’’  Additionally, they
note that Furby stated that she would not
submit a ‘‘false answer’’ on verdict forms
simply to avoid voting for the death penal-
ty.  Finally, Defendants emphasize that
when asked whether she could follow her

oath and vote for the death penalty if she
‘‘heard enough bad evidence from the gov-
ernment’’ to satisfy her that the death
penalty was warranted, Furby stated that
‘‘I guess if I was put in that situation, yes.’’

Notwithstanding this statement, howev-
er, Furby repeatedly indicated that she did
not know whether she could vote for the
death penalty.  Indeed, she stated that the
‘‘scariness’’ of capital punishment would
impair her ability to vote ‘‘for the death
penalty even if [she] felt like the facts
justified that verdict.’’  When eventually
asked directly whether she was ‘‘going to
follow [her] oath or not’’ and impose the
death penalty if it was warranted, she
stated ‘‘I’m not going to.’’  In light of
Furby’s vacillations as to whether she per-
sonally could impose capital punishment,
and her explicit statement that her person-
al feelings would prevent her from follow-
ing her oath, the district court did not
abuse its discretion in granting the govern-
ment’s motion to strike her for cause.  See
Wainwright, 469 U.S. at 425–26, 105 S.Ct.
844.

[11] Finally, Defendants assert that
the district court erred in dismissing for
cause prospective juror number two-hun-
dred (‘‘Blackmon’’).  During voir dire,
Blackmon stated to defense counsel that
she had a ‘‘religious problem’’ with impos-
ing capital punishment unless the case in-
volved a child or an act of domestic vio-
lence.  This generally was consistent with
her questionnaire, wherein Blackmon had
noted that she was against capital punish-
ment except in cases involving ‘‘killing a
child, abusing a child, child molestation,
[or] killing an elderly person.’’  Neverthe-
less, Defendants argue that Blackmon
should not have been dismissed because

4. In addition to his inability to affirm that he
could adhere to his oath, Kimball also had
conducted outside research about the case.
The court noted that, in light of this outside

investigation, it would be ‘‘inappropriate’’ to
have Kimball serve.  We agree.  See Marshall
v. United States, 360 U.S. 310, 79 S.Ct. 1171,
3 L.Ed.2d 1250 (1959).
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she testified that she was willing to keep
an open mind that there might be other
cases that could warrant a death sentence.
Further, Defendants also emphasize that,
when questioned by defense counsel,
Blackmon stated that she could vote for
the death penalty if the government estab-
lished the appropriateness of such a sen-
tence.

Despite this testimony, however, Black-
mon stated that although she had ‘‘waf-
fled’’ when answering defense counsel’s
questions, she did not think she ‘‘could live
with [herself] if’’ she voted for the death
penalty in this case.  When government
counsel asked if he would ‘‘ever have a
chance of getting a death penalty verdict
from’’ Blackmon in cases not involving vic-
tims she had listed on her questionnaire,
she replied ‘‘[p]robably not.’’  Finally,
Blackmon stated that she would not be
able to follow her oath or the court’s in-
struction if it meant imposing capital pun-
ishment in this case.  Given Blackmon’s
position that she would not follow the oath
to faithfully and impartially apply the law
in this case, the district court did not
abuse its discretion in dismissing her.  See
Jackson, 549 F.3d at 973–74.

(2) Prospective Juror Dismissed for a
Physical Infirmity

Defendants also raise a host of chal-
lenges to the district court’s dismissal of a
prospective juror who indicated during
voir dire that he had a physical infirmity
that might have impeded his ability to
render jury service.  First, Defendants
claim that the court’s action in excusing
this venire person was contrary to the
Jury Selection and Service Act. 28 U.S.C.
§ 1861, et seq.  Second, Defendants submit
that the court violated the Americans with
Disabilities Act (‘‘ADA’’) by dismissing this
juror.  42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.  Finally,
Defendants contend that excusing this ju-

ror violated their constitutional rights to
equal protection and to have a venire
drawn from a fair cross section of the
community.

(a) Standard of Review

[12–14] ‘‘Determinations as to the gen-
eral qualifications of jurors are reviewed
for abuse of discretion.’’  United States v.
Whitfield, 590 F.3d 325, 360 (5th Cir.2009).
As a question of law, the applicability of
the ADA is reviewed de novo.  See Jack-
son, 549 F.3d at 969.  Defendants’ consti-
tutional claims were not raised below and,
as such, are reviewed only for plain error.
See United States v. Goldfaden, 959 F.2d
1324, 1327–28 (5th Cir.1992).  Plain error
review ‘‘requires considerable deference to
the district court.’’ United States v. Pel-
tier, 505 F.3d 389, 391 (5th Cir.2007).

(b) Prospective Juror Number 232

On his questionnaire, prospective juror
number 232 (‘‘Horton’’) indicated that he
took medications that caused him to use
the restroom frequently.  He testified that
although he wished to serve as a juror, his
health kept him from so doing.  Horton
first estimated that he needed to use the
facilities roughly every sixty to ninety min-
utes, though he later indicated that he had
done so five times during the two-and-a-
half hour period he was at the courthouse.
He further stated that his inability to use
the restroom when needed ‘‘would be a
distraction’’ and would impede his ability
to concentrate on the proceedings.  After
the court informed Horton that, during
trial, ‘‘it could be as much as two hours at
a time without a break,’’ Horton was un-
able to assure the court that he could wait
that long without using the facilities.  He
later stated that while he knew he might
be required to sit for an hour or two and
be ‘‘undisturbed about that TTT that’s just
not going to work for me.’’  The court
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finally asked Horton directly if he was
asking to be excused, to which Horton
replied in the affirmative.  The court
therefore dismissed him.

(c) The Jury Selection and Service Act

[15] Defendants first imply that Hor-
ton’s dismissal violated the Jury Selection
and Service Act, which sets forth the quali-
fications for jury service in federal courts.
28 U.S.C. § 1865.  As relevant, a person is
disqualified from service under the Act’s
provisions if he is unable ‘‘by reason of
mental or physical infirmity, to render sat-
isfactory jury service.’’  Id. at
§ 1865(b)(4).

[16] ‘‘A court has broad discretion to
determine whether to excuse a juror for
cause’’ pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1865(b)(4).
United States v. Solomon, 273 F.3d 1108,
2001 WL 1131955, at *3 (5th Cir.2001) (per
curiam) (unpublished).  In Solomon, for
example, we affirmed the dismissal for
cause of a prospective juror who suffered
from an obsessive compulsive disorder.
Id. When asked whether his condition
would interfere with his ability to focus on
the proceedings, the venire person in Solo-
mon had responded that there was ‘‘no
way to know,’’ although he believed that he
would be able to focus ‘‘[m]ost of the time.’’
Id. In affirming the district court’s dis-
missal of the prospective juror, we stated
that ‘‘[t]he court properly exercised its dis-
cretion in concluding that the prospective
juror’s mental condition prevented him
from rendering satisfactory service.’’  Id.

Other courts agree as to the propriety of
dismissing prospective jurors whose infir-
mities would interfere with their jury ser-
vice.  In United States v. Flores, for in-
stance, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the
dismissal for cause of a potential juror who
suffered from attention deficit disorder
(‘‘ADD’’).  572 F.3d 1254, 1261 (11th Cir.
2009).  The defendants there had argued

‘‘that the district court was required to
inquire further into [the prospective ju-
ror’s] medical condition to determine the
severity of her ADD.’’ Id. The court disa-
greed, explaining that because the trial
was so lengthy, concerned multiple defen-
dants, and involved numerous witnesses
and exhibits, and because ‘‘ADD could in-
terfere with a juror’s ability to pay atten-
tion,’’ ‘‘the district court acted within its
sound discretion when it dismissed [the
potential juror] for cause.’’  Id.;  see also
United States v. Powell, 444 Fed.Appx.
517, 519–20 (3d Cir.2011) (unpublished) (af-
firming a district court’s decision to grant
a prospective juror’s request to be excused
based on the individual’s hearing impair-
ment).

Defendants do not address this authori-
ty or attempt to distinguish it from their
case.  Instead, they appear to focus on 28
U.S.C. § 1865(b)(2), which states that an
individual is disqualified from jury service
if he ‘‘is unable to read, write, and under-
stand the English language with a degree
of proficiency sufficient to fill out satisfac-
torily the juror qualification form.’’  De-
fendants argue that ‘‘[i]t is apparent from
[his] educational and work experience, as
well as [his] interview[ ], that [Horton]
could read, write and understand the En-
glish language with proficiency.’’

While this is true, Defendants’ argument
neglects that in dismissing Horton for
cause, the district court acted not under
subsection two of 28 U.S.C. § 1865(b), but
rather under subsection four.  Pursuant to
subsection four, it is proper for a court to
dismiss prospective jurors based on their
infirmities if those infirmities render them
unable to perform satisfactory service.  Id.
at § 1865(b)(4).  Here, as detailed, Horton
indicated that his physical infirmity could
interfere with his ability to concentrate on
the proceedings.  This testimony was es-
pecially troubling given that, as in Flores,
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the trial here was lengthy, concerned mul-
tiple defendants, and involved numerous
witnesses and exhibits.  Accordingly, the
district court did not violate the Jury Se-
lection and Service Act or otherwise abuse
its discretion in excusing Horton.

(d) The ADA

[17] Defendants also maintain that the
district court violated the ADA in excusing
Horton based on his physical infirmity.
Under the ADA, ‘‘no qualified individual
with a disability shall, by reason of such
disability, be excluded from participation
in or be denied the benefits of the services,
programs, or activities of a public entity,
or be subjected to discrimination by any
such entity.’’  42 U.S.C. § 12132.  The
ADA, however, applies only to ‘‘public enti-
ties,’’ which the Act defines as ‘‘(A) any
State or local government’’;  ‘‘(B) any de-
partment, agency, special purpose district,
or other instrumentality of a State or
States or local government’’;  and ‘‘(C) the
National Railroad Passenger Corporation,
and any commuter authority.’’  Id. at
§ 12131(1).  As other courts have ob-
served, ‘‘[n]oticeably absent from this defi-
nition is any mention of any agency or
department of the federal government,
other than the National Railroad Passen-
ger Corporation.’’  Isle Royale Boaters
Ass’n v. Norton, 154 F.Supp.2d 1098, 1135
(W.D.Mich.2001) (holding that plaintiffs
could not sue the National Park Service, ‘‘a
unit of the federal government, for dis-
crimination under the ADA’’);  see also Ca-
lero–Cerezo v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 355
F.3d 6, 19 (1st Cir.2004) (‘‘[T]he ADA ap-
plies to private employers with over 15
employees and state and local govern-
ments.’’);  Melton v. Freeland, Nos.
1:96CV516, 1:96CV517, 1997 WL 382054, at
*1 (M.D.N.C. Feb. 6, 1997) (unpublished)
(explaining that the ADA does not apply to
federal courts because they are not public
entities under the Act).

Defendants point to no federal case in
which the dismissal of a juror has been
successfully challenged under the ADA,
nor have we discovered such a case.  We
therefore reject Defendants’ claim that the
district court violated the ADA in dismiss-
ing Horton due to his physical infirmity.

(e) Defendants’ Constitutional
Challenges

[18] Defendants next claim that by dis-
missing Horton, the district court abridged
Defendants’ right to have a venire drawn
from a fair cross section of the communi-
ty—as guaranteed by the Sixth Amend-
ment—and violated the Equal Protection
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  As
noted earlier, because Defendants did not
raise this claim below, they are entitled
only to plain-error review. Under plain-
error review, a defendant ‘‘must establish:
(1) an error;  (2) that is clear and obvious;
and (3) that affected his substantial
rights.’’  United States v. Hernandez–
Martinez, 485 F.3d 270, 273 (5th Cir.2007).
‘‘If these conditions are met, this court can
exercise its discretion to notice the forfeit-
ed error only if the error seriously affects
the fairness, integrity, or public reputation
of judicial proceedings.’’  Id. (citation omit-
ted).

(i) Applicable Law

[19] ‘‘The Sixth Amendment secures to
criminal defendants the right to be tried
by an impartial jury drawn from sources
reflecting a fair cross section of the com-
munity.’’  Berghuis v. Smith, 559 U.S. 314,
130 S.Ct. 1382, 1388, 176 L.Ed.2d 249
(2010).  To establish a prima facie violation
of this right, a defendant must demon-
strate:

(1) that the group alleged to be exclud-
ed is a ‘‘distinctive’’ group in the commu-
nity;  (2) that the representation of this
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group in venires from which juries are
selected is not fair and reasonable in
relation to the number of such persons
in the community;  and (3) that this un-
derrepresentation is due to systematic
exclusion of the group in the jury-selec-
tion process.

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 364, 99
S.Ct. 664, 58 L.Ed.2d 579 (1979).  Similar-
ly, in Castaneda v. Partida, the Supreme
Court delineated the general contours of
an equal protection challenge to jury selec-
tion.  430 U.S. 482, 494, 97 S.Ct. 1272, 51
L.Ed.2d 498 (1977).  There, the Court ex-
plained:

The first step is to establish that the
group is one that is a recognizable, dis-
tinct classTTTT Next, the degree of un-
derrepresentation must be proved, by
comparing the proportion of the group
in the total population to the proportion
called to serve as TTT jurors, over a
significant period of timeTTTT Finally,
TTT a selection procedure that is suscep-
tible of abuse TTT supports the presump-
tion of discrimination raised by the sta-
tistical showing.

Id. (internal citations omitted);  see also
McGinnis v. Johnson, 181 F.3d 686, 691
(5th Cir.1999).  Thus, to prevail under ei-
ther theory, a defendant must demonstrate
not only that the excluded persons are
members of a distinctive class, but also
that the class is disproportionally under-
represented due to procedures in the jury
selection process that work to exclude
class members.

Duren provides a roadmap as to how a
petitioner might make such a showing.5

There, the petitioner alleged a Sixth

Amendment violation based on the lack of
females in his jury pool.  Duren, 439 U.S.
at 360, 99 S.Ct. 664.  In explaining that
the petitioner had successfully demonstrat-
ed a prima facie violation, the Court first
stated that prior precedent ‘‘without doubt
established that women ‘are sufficiently
numerous and distinct from men’ so that ‘if
they are systematically eliminated from
jury panels, the Sixth Amendment’s fair-
cross-section requirement cannot be satis-
fied.’ ’’  Id. at 364, 99 S.Ct. 664 (quoting
Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 531, 95
S.Ct. 692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975)).  Next,
the petitioner’s ‘‘statistical presentation’’
evidenced ‘‘a gross discrepancy between
the percentage of women in jury venires
and the percentage of women in the com-
munity.’’  Id. at 364, 366, 99 S.Ct. 664.
Finally, to establish the systematic nature
of that underrepresentation, the petitioner
had pointed, inter alia, to provisions of
Missouri’s law that granted women auto-
matic exemptions from jury service.  Id. at
366–67, 99 S.Ct. 664.  Given the ‘‘statistics
and other evidence’’ presented by the peti-
tioner, the Court held that he had demon-
strated a prima facie fair-cross-section vio-
lation.  Id. at 366, 367, 99 S.Ct. 664.

(ii) Analysis

[20] In contrast to the showing made
in Duren, Defendants here have done
nothing more than advance conclusory
statements to the effect that ‘‘the exclusion
from the venire panel of [Horton] estab-
lished a prima facie violation of both the
fair cross-section requirement of the Sixth
Amendment and the Equal Protection
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.’’
Defendants provide no supporting authori-

5. Although Duren involved a claim based on
the Sixth Amendment and not the Equal Pro-
tection Clause, ‘‘the equal protection analysis
employs a prima facie case test virtually iden-
tical to the one used in the fair cross-section
analysis.’’  Bowen v. Kemp, 769 F.2d 672, 683

(11th Cir.1985).  Indeed, the Supreme
Court’s analysis in Duren largely mirrors that
undertaken by the Castaneda Court.  Compare
Duren, 439 U.S. at 360–67, 99 S.Ct. 664, with
Castaneda, 430 U.S. at 495–99, 97 S.Ct. 1272.
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ty for their assertion that individuals who
need to urinate frequently are a ‘‘distinct’’
class.  By extension, Defendants provide
no statistical data as to the representation
of this supposed class on venires, or in the
community at large.  They therefore fail
to demonstrate any degree of underrepre-
sentation of this group and, relatedly, ad-
vance no argument supporting their im-
plicit assumption that the individuals in
this group have been underrepresented
due to their purposeful or systemic exclu-
sion during the jury selection process.  In
sum, Defendants simply have not estab-
lished error, plain or otherwise, in connec-
tion with the exclusion of Horton.

(3) Denial of Defendants’ For Cause
Challenges

Defendants next assert that the district
court erred in refusing to grant their chal-
lenges for cause to three prospective ju-
rors, which they contend violated their
right to an impartial jury.

(a) Standard of Review

[21] ‘‘The appellate court reviews the
district court’s ruling on jury impartiality
for ‘manifest abuse of discretion.’ ’’  Unit-
ed States v. Wharton, 320 F.3d 526, 535
(5th Cir.2003) (quoting United States v.
Munoz, 15 F.3d 395, 397 (5th Cir.1994));
see also Skilling v. United States, ––– U.S.
––––, 130 S.Ct. 2896, 2923, 177 L.Ed.2d 619
(2010) (‘‘A trial court’s findings of juror
impartiality may be overturned only for
manifest error.’’) (citation omitted).  ‘‘In
reviewing claims of this type, the defer-
ence due to district courts is at its pinna-
cleTTTT’’ Skilling, 130 S.Ct. at 2923.

(b) Applicable Law

[22] As noted above, the general ‘‘stan-
dard for determining when a venire mem-
ber may be excluded for cause is whether
the prospective ‘juror’s views would pre-

vent or substantially impair the perform-
ance of his duties as a juror in accordance
with his instructions and his oath.’ ’’  Soria
v. Johnson, 207 F.3d 232, 242 (5th Cir.
2000) (quoting Wainwright, 469 U.S. at
424, 105 S.Ct. 844).  In addressing a claim
that an empaneled jury was not impartial,
however, the inquiry turns not on the dis-
trict court’s alleged failure to remove for
cause certain prospective jurors, but rath-
er on whether the jurors who ultimately
sat were impartial.  Ross v. Oklahoma,
487 U.S. 81, 86, 108 S.Ct. 2273, 101
L.Ed.2d 80 (1988).  In other words, ‘‘[a]
district court’s erroneous refusal to grant a
defendant’s challenge for cause is only
grounds for reversal if the defendant es-
tablishes that the jury which actually sat
to decide his guilt or innocence was not
impartial.’’  Wharton, 320 F.3d at 535.

[23] The reasoning behind this ap-
proach is that peremptory challenges—
which simply ‘‘are a means to achieve the
end of an impartial jury’’—often cure er-
rors purportedly committed when trial
courts refuse to grant challenges for cause.
Ross, 487 U.S. at 88, 108 S.Ct. 2273.  Be-
cause ‘‘peremptory challenges are not of
constitutional dimension TTTT the fact that
the defendant had to use a peremptory
challenge to achieve [an impartial jury]
does not mean the Sixth Amendment was
violated.’’  Id. Indeed, the Supreme Court
expressly has held that ‘‘a defendant’s ex-
ercise of peremptory challenges TTT is not
denied or impaired when the defendant
chooses to use a peremptory challenge to
remove a juror who should have been ex-
cused for cause.’’  United States v. Mar-
tinez–Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 317, 120 S.Ct.
774, 145 L.Ed.2d 792 (2000).

(c) Discussion

[24] Here, Defendants were entitled to
twenty peremptory challenges.  Fed.
R.Crim.P. 24(b)(1).  Because Defendants
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were scheduled to be tried jointly, the
district court inquired of defense counsel
prior to trial as to whether Defendants
would require additional challenges.  Ulti-
mately, the court granted Defendants ten
additional peremptory challenges for De-
fendants to divide as they wished.6  Fol-
lowing voir dire, Defendants moved for
‘‘one or more’’ additional peremptory chal-
lenges and urged the district court to re-
consider its allegedly erroneous denial of
Defendants’ challenge for cause to seven
prospective jurors.  Included in the group
of venire members Defendants had unsuc-
cessfully challenged for cause were pro-
spective jurors 17, 132, and 184.  Defen-
dants argued that if they were not granted
additional challenges, they would be forced
to lodge peremptory challenges against
these individuals, and therefore would be
‘‘unable to remove other objectionable ju-
rors who were not necessarily disqualified
as a matter of law but who were nonethe-
less unable to be fair and impartial jurors
in the judgment of defendants.’’ Listed
amongst the latter venire members was
prospective juror number 129, who ulti-
mately was empaneled.

On appeal, Defendants essentially main-
tain that they were denied the right to an
impartial jury because they could not exer-
cise a peremptory challenge against pro-
spective juror number 129, since they had
partially exhausted their challenges on ve-
nire persons 17, 132, and 184, whom they
argue should have been dismissed for
cause.

(d) Defendants’ Argument
Fails Under Wharton

Although the parties vigorously disagree
about whether prospective jurors 17, 132,
and 184 should have been excused for

cause, because Defendants ultimately exer-
cised peremptory challenges to remove
these venire persons, this disagreement is
irrelevant under Wharton.  There, a de-
fendant appealed the lower court’s denial
of his challenge for cause to a venire per-
son the defendant claimed was biased.
Wharton, 320 F.3d at 535.  Although the
defendant eventually had used a perempto-
ry challenge to exclude the allegedly bi-
ased prospective juror, he argued on ap-
peal that this precluded him from using
the challenge to exclude from the jury
another individual he otherwise would have
challenged.  Id. Relying on Martinez–Sa-
lazar, the Wharton court held that ‘‘[a]
district court’s erroneous refusal to grant a
defendant’s challenge for cause is only
grounds for reversal if the defendant es-
tablishes that the jury which actually sat
to decide his guilt or innocence was not
impartial.’’  Id.;  see also Martinez–Sala-
zar, 528 U.S. at 307, 120 S.Ct. 774 (holding
that if a defendant elects to cure the erro-
neous refusal to dismiss a potential juror
for cause ‘‘by exercising a peremptory
challenge, and is subsequently convicted
by a jury on which no biased juror sat, he
has not been deprived of any rule-based or
constitutional right’’).  Because the defen-
dant had not shown that the empaneled
jury was biased, the Wharton court reject-
ed the defendant’s argument.  320 F.3d at
536.

Thus, even assuming that prospective
jurors 17, 132, and 184 should have been
dismissed for cause, Defendants still must
establish that the seated jury was not im-
partial.  On this score, Defendants point
only to prospective juror 129 (‘‘Godkin’’),
who eventually was selected for the jury.
On her questionnaire, Godkin placed her
feelings as to the propriety of the death

6. This is expressly permitted by Rule 24(b),
which states that ‘‘[t]he court may allow addi-
tional peremptory challenges to multiple de-

fendants, and may allow the defendants to
exercise those challenges separately or joint-
ly.’’  Fed.R.Crim.P. 24(b).
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penalty at seven on a ten-point scale
(where one indicated that the prospective
juror felt capital punishment was always
improper).  When probed about this, God-
kin explained that she arrived at seven
given her belief that ‘‘life is very precious’’
and that a ‘‘person who takes that life is
responsible and should be punished.’’  She
stated, however, that she could comply
with the law and the judge’s instruction
about imposing capital punishment, and
she affirmed that she did not ‘‘have any
problem with the fact that it is the govern-
ment’s burden to prove the death penalty
is justified.’’  Godkin also acknowledged
that, depending on the circumstances of a
case—including evidence as to any mitigat-
ing and aggravating factors—either the
death penalty or a life sentence may be
appropriate for ‘‘[p]lanned and deliberate
murder.’’

Nevertheless, Defendants argue that
had they not been required to exhaust
their peremptory strikes on prospective
jurors who purportedly should have been
dismissed for cause, they would have used
one on Godkin.  Aside from her ‘‘leanings
in favor of the death penalty,’’ Defendants
also emphasize that Godkin had relatives

in law enforcement and was acquainted
with a crime victim and perpetrator.7  De-
fendants neglect, however, the incidental
nature of these connections, and ignore
that Godkin expressly testified that these
experiences would not impact her ability to
be fair and impartial.8  Indeed, Defen-
dants admit that Godkin ‘‘was not subject
to a challenge for cause.’’  Simply put,
despite Defendants’ contention to the con-
trary, there is nothing in the record to
suggest that Godkin was not impartial.

Because Defendants point to no other
evidence that the jury was not impartial,
Wharton compels us to conclude that De-
fendants have not established that the dis-
trict court erred in refusing to excuse for
cause prospective jurors 17, 132, and 184.9

See 320 F.3d at 535–36.

B. Lesser–Included–Offense Instruc-
tion

At trial, the district court denied Defen-
dants’ request for an instruction on second
degree murder, manslaughter, and invol-
untary manslaughter as lesser included of-
fenses of first degree murder.  Defendants
now appeal the denial of an instruction on
second degree murder.

7. Godkin stated that her brother and nephew
worked as security guards.  She replied, how-
ever, that she did not believe their occupation
would impact her ability to be a fair juror in
this case.

8. Godkin explained that a friend’s brother
had been killed in a drive-by shooting and her
husband’s cousin had been convicted of rape.
She was unaware, however, of many details
surrounding these occurrences and, in any
event, affirmed that ‘‘neither of these circum-
stances [had] any impact TTT on [her] ability
to be fair and impartial.’’

9. Defendants also assert that Martinez–Sala-
zar left open the question of ‘‘whether it is
reversible error to refuse to afford a defen-
dant a peremptory challenge beyond the max-
imum otherwise allowed, when he has used a
peremptory challenge to cure an erroneous

denial of a challenge for cause and when he
shows that he would otherwise [have] use[d]
his full complement of peremptory challenges
for the noncurative purposes that are the fo-
cus of the peremptory right.’’  528 U.S. at
317–18, 120 S.Ct. 774 (Souter, J. concurring).
Defendants ignore that the language they rely
on emanates not from the majority opinion,
but from Justice Souter’s concurrence.
Moreover, even that authority is inapposite,
as Justice Souter’s proposed scenario involves
a situation, unlike the one here, in which a
court refuses to grant a defendant additional
peremptory challenges beyond the maximum
afforded by Rule 24.  Finally, regardless of
any relevant ‘‘open question’’ remaining after
Martinez–Salazar, Wharton itself is squarely
on point, and Defendants do not argue other-
wise.

A-24



389U.S. v. SNARR
Cite as 704 F.3d 368 (5th Cir. 2013)

(1) Standard of Review

[25, 26] We review de novo the district
court’s determination of whether a particu-
lar offense is a lesser included offense of a
charged offense. United States v. Finley,
477 F.3d 250, 256 (5th Cir.2007).  We re-
view for abuse of discretion the lower
court’s determination as to ‘‘whether a
jury could rationally acquit on the greater
offense yet convict on the lesser.’’  Id.

(2) Applicable Law

[27, 28] A defendant is only entitled to
a lesser-included-offense instruction if ‘‘(1)
the elements of the lesser offense are a
subset of the elements of the charged of-
fense and (2) the evidence at trial is such
that a jury could rationally find the defen-
dant guilty of the lesser offense yet acquit
him of the greater.’’  Id. at 255;  see also
Keeble v. United States, 412 U.S. 205, 208,
93 S.Ct. 1993, 36 L.Ed.2d 844 (1973) (not-
ing that a ‘‘defendant is entitled to an
instruction on a lesser included offense if
the evidence would permit a jury rationally
to find him guilty of the lesser offense and
acquit him of the greater’’).  ‘‘While a de-
fendant’s request for a lesser included of-
fense charge should be freely granted,
there must be a rational basis for the
lesser charge and it cannot serve merely
as ‘a device for defendant to invoke the
mercy-dispensing prerogative of the
jury.’ ’’ United States v. Collins, 690 F.2d
431, 438 (5th Cir.1982) (quoting United
States v. Sinclair, 444 F.2d 888, 890
(D.C.Cir.1971)), cert. denied, 460 U.S.
1046, 103 S.Ct. 1447, 75 L.Ed.2d 801
(1983).

[29] As relevant, the murder statute at
issue here provides:

Murder is the unlawful killing of a hu-
man being with malice aforethought.
Every murder perpetrated by poison,
lying in wait, or any other kind of willful,

deliberate, malicious, and premeditated
killing TTT is murder in the first degree.

Any other murder is murder in the sec-
ond degree.

18 U.S.C. § 1111(a).  We previously have
stated that ‘‘[a] killing is ‘premeditated’
when it is the result of planning or deliber-
ation.  The amount of time needed for
premeditation of a killing depends on the
person and the circumstances.  It must be
long enough for the killer, after forming
the intent to kill, to be fully conscious of
that intent.’’  United States v. Agofsky,
516 F.3d 280, 282 n. 2 (5th Cir.2008) (cita-
tion omitted).

(3) Discussion

The question of whether the elements of
second degree murder are a subset of the
elements of first degree murder is not in
dispute.  Rather, the parties disagree as to
whether the district court erred in holding
that the evidence was not such that a juror
could rationally find Defendants guilty
only of second degree murder and acquit
them of first degree murder.  Defendants
advance two primary claims in arguing
that the district court erred in so holding.
First, they assert that the court’s ruling
conflicts with Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S.
625, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980).
Second, they contend that ‘‘[t]he jury
should have been instructed on second-
degree murder because the evidence of
premeditation was insufficient and hotly
disputed.’’  For the reasons set forth be-
low, we reject Defendants’ arguments.

(a) Beck v. Alabama

In Beck, the Supreme Court struck
down an Alabama statute, ‘‘unique in
American criminal law,’’ that prohibited
capital defendants from submitting lesser-
included-offense instructions.  Id. at 635,
100 S.Ct. 2382.  In explaining its reason-
ing, the Court stated that ‘‘when the evi-
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dence unquestionably establishes that the
defendant is guilty of a serious, violent
offense—but leaves some doubt with re-
spect to an element that would justify con-
viction of a capital offense—the failure to
give the jury the ‘third option’ of convict-
ing on a lesser included offense would
seem inevitably to enhance the risk of an
unwarranted conviction.’’  Id. at 637, 100
S.Ct. 2382.  The Court thus held that Ala-
bama was ‘‘constitutionally prohibited’’
from statutorily precluding a lesser-includ-
ed-offense instruction in capital cases.  Id.
at 638, 100 S.Ct. 2382.

[30] Relying on Beck, Defendants ar-
gue that the district court violated their
‘‘rights to due process’’ by denying their
request for an instruction on second de-
gree murder.  In pressing this argument,
however, Defendants overread Beck. Noth-
ing in the Court’s opinion suggests that
district courts are constitutionally com-
pelled to give lesser-included-offense in-
structions where they are not supported
by the evidence.  Indeed, Beck repeatedly
indicates that lesser-included-offense in-
structions are proper only where the evi-
dence warrants them.  Id. at 635 n. 11, 636
& n. 12., 100 S.Ct. 2382 This reading of
Beck is confirmed by subsequent caselaw.
See Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 648,
111 S.Ct. 2491, 115 L.Ed.2d 555 (1991)
(suggesting that Beck would not ‘‘be satis-
fied by instructing the jury on just any
lesser included offense, even one without
any support in the evidence’’);  Schmuck v.
United States, 489 U.S. 705, 716 n. 8, 109
S.Ct. 1443, 103 L.Ed.2d 734 (1989) (stating
that a lesser-included-offense instruction is
appropriate only where the evidence at
trial is ‘‘such that a jury could rationally
find the defendant guilty of the lesser of-
fense, yet acquit him of the greater’’).

Accordingly, to the extent Defendants
argue that a lesser-included-offense in-
struction was constitutionally required un-

der Beck—even absent evidentiary support
for one—we reject their argument.

(b) Evidence of Premeditation

[31] Defendants next take issue with
the district court’s conclusion that the ev-
idence that Rhone’s murder was premed-
itated would not have allowed the jury
rationally to find them guilty of second
degree murder, yet acquit them of first
degree murder.  The primary thrust of
Defendants’ argument is that Rhone—an
individual they characterize as ‘‘a trou-
bled, disliked and mentally disturbed in-
mate’’—was murdered in a fit of ‘‘sponta-
neous violence without premeditation.’’
They emphasize that Rhone allegedly had
threatened to kill Defendants the night
before the murder, and that they would
not have had the opportunity to commit
their crime if prison officials had followed
proper procedures.

Defendants neglect, however, the exten-
sive evidence the government presented
regarding premeditation.  This evidence
established that both Snarr and Garcia
were classified as ‘‘single-cell’’ inmates who
were housed in the prison’s special housing
unit (‘‘SHU’’) while awaiting transfer to
the federal administrative maximum secu-
rity prison (‘‘ADX’’) in Florence, Colorado.
As such, neither defendant had a cellmate,
and each spent his allotted recreation peri-
od—one hour per day—alone in an outdoor
‘‘recreation cage.’’  Defendants also were
classified as ‘‘three-man hold’’ inmates,
meaning that they were required to be
escorted by three correctional officers
when out of their cells, and could not be
moved while other inmates were in the
same hallway.

On the day of Rhone’s murder, the situ-
ation in the SHU was not normal.  The
unit was short-staffed, there had been an
altercation in one of the cells, fire alarms
were sounding, and one area of the prison
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was flooding.  In the midst of this chaos,
four officers began escorting prisoners
from recreation cages back to their cells.
However, two inmates—both of whom
were incarcerated in cells near Defen-
dants—refused to leave their recreation
cages.10  Accordingly, the officers decided
to remove compliant inmates, including
Defendants, first.

As officers handcuffed Garcia to escort
him back to his cell, Snarr began shouting
that he needed to use the restroom.  In
the interest of clearing the recreation
cages of all compliant inmates, and to ac-
commodate Snarr’s need to use the rest-
room, officers decided to remove him too.
Officer Baloney, who was unaware that
Garcia was on three-man hold status, be-
gan moving Garcia without assistance,
while two other officers began moving
Snarr.  This confluence of events, which
the government argued had been orches-
trated to create chaos and divert the staff’s
attention, set the stage for Rhone’s mur-
der.11

Beyond introducing testimony support-
ing the theory that these events were ‘‘in-
mate manipulated’’ and designed to exploit
the guards’ weaknesses, the government
presented other evidence of premeditation.
In particular, one inmate testified that, on
the day of the murder, he had supplied
Snarr with at least one shank, and perhaps
two.  This same inmate testified to circum-
stances suggesting that Garcia may have
been trying to obtain a mechanical pencil,
the parts of which can be used to open
handcuffs.  Other witnesses similarly testi-
fied as to the planning required merely to
obtain weapons in prison.

Witnesses also explained that Defen-
dants were angry at Rhone for what they
deemed to be Rhone’s ‘‘disrespectful’’ be-
havior.  Corrections officer Dawn Galla-
gher testified, for example, that prior to
the murder Rhone had exposed his penis
to her and ejaculated on her shoe.  Defen-
dants expressed to her that they were
‘‘very upset’’ and offended by Rhone’s be-
havior.  Another witness testified that be-
fore the murder, he had heard Rhone yell,
‘‘Whoever ain’t Muslim on this tier can
suck my dick,’’ and another witness testi-
fied to hearing one of the defendants say
to Rhone during the murder, ‘‘You want us
to suck your dick.’’  After the murder,
Snarr told another inmate that he killed
Rhone because Rhone had cursed at him
and made too much noise in his cell.  Simi-
larly, after describing Rhone’s ‘‘disrespect-
ful’’ behavior, Garcia told a different in-
mate that, while Rhone ‘‘would just talk
and talk and talk,’’ Garcia was ‘‘sharpening
[his] knife’’ in preparation for the murder.

Finally, the government introduced oth-
er statements Defendants made that sug-
gested the crime had been planned.  While
Snarr struggled to open Rhone’s cell door,
for example, Garcia shouted either ‘‘I’m
going to kill you,’’ or ‘‘We going to kill
you.’’  Shortly after the murder, either
Snarr or Garcia yelled, ‘‘That’s how you
get your enemy,’’ and Snarr exclaimed,
‘‘Dude disrespected us, and that’s what he
got.’’  Finally, an agent who investigated
the murder testified that Defendants im-
plicitly admitted to planning the murder
by stating to him that they did not ‘‘intend
to get the staff,’’ and that ‘‘[i]t wasn’t

10. The evidence indicated that one of these
inmates, Frankie Delacruz, was in the same
prison gang as Garcia, suggesting that he was
acting in concert with Defendants.

11. One witness testified that Garcia told him
that he and Snarr had ‘‘jacked the rec cage’’

to assure they could carry out the murder.
Other witnesses testified to the general ability
of inmates to exploit or precipitate the condi-
tions that enabled Defendants to carry out
their attack.
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supposed to happen that way with the
staff.’’

(4) Conclusion

Simply put, the evidence overwhelming-
ly demonstrates premeditation.12  In view
of this evidence, a jury could not rationally
have found Defendants guilty of second
degree murder, while acquitting them of
first degree murder.  Accordingly, the dis-
trict court did not abuse its discretion in
denying Defendants’ request for a lesser-
included-offense instruction.

C. Sufficiency of the Evidence

At the conclusion of the eligibility phase
of the trial, the district court instructed
the jury on several aggravating factors.
Defendants allege that the evidence was
insufficient to support the jury’s findings
as to two:  (1) that the murder involved
‘‘substantial premeditation and planning,’’
and (2) that it was committed in an ‘‘espe-
cially heinous, cruel, and depraved man-
ner.’’ 13  Defendants likewise allege that
the evidence was insufficient to support
the jury’s finding as to the non-statutory
aggravating factor that Snarr and Garcia
pose a threat of future dangerousness.

(1) Standard of Review

[32] This court reviews ‘‘jury findings
of aggravating factors by asking whether,
after viewing the evidence in a light most
favorable to the government, any rational
trier of fact could have found the existence
of the aggravating circumstance beyond a
reasonable doubt.’’  Bernard, 299 F.3d at
481.

(2) Substantial Premeditation and
Planning

(a) Applicable Law

As noted, the government alleged that
Defendants murdered Rhone ‘‘after sub-
stantial planning and premeditation’’—an
aggravating factor under 18 U.S.C.
§ 3592(c)(9).  In United States v. Flores,
we observed that the term ‘‘substantial,’’
as used in 18 U.S.C. § 3592(c)(9), ‘‘de-
note[s] a thing of high magnitude.’’  63
F.3d 1342, 1373–74 (5th Cir.1995).  Else-
where, we have held that ‘‘substantial plan-
ning’’ thus may properly be ‘‘defined as
requiring a considerable amount of plan-
ning preceding the killing.’’  Davis, 609
F.3d at 690 (internal quotation marks
omitted).  And, as previously explained,
‘‘[a] killing is ‘premeditated’ when it is the
result of planning or deliberation.  The
amount of time needed for premeditation
of a killing depends on the person and the
circumstances.  It must be long enough
for the killer, after forming the intent to
kill, to be fully conscious of that intent.’’
Agofsky, 516 F.3d at 282 n. 2 (citation
omitted).

(b) Discussion

We already have discussed above the
evidence the government presented in con-
nection with this aggravating factor.  De-
fendants advance no new arguments in the
context of this challenge, but instead con-
tinue to maintain that the murder was a
crime of coincidence, precipitated by
events over which they had no control.
Given the overwhelming nature of the gov-
ernment’s evidence, however, a rational ju-
ror easily could have concluded that De-
fendants murdered Rhone after substantial

12. Defendants’ arguments painting Rhone as
a troublemaker who threatened them demon-
strates rather than disproves premeditation,
insofar as it supplies an additional motive for
the murder.

13. As discussed below, each of these is a
statutory aggravating factor set forth in 18
U.S.C. § 3592(c).
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planning and premeditation.  We therefore
reject Defendants’ contention to the con-
trary.

(3) Especially Heinous, Cruel, or De-
praved Murder

(a) Applicable Law

Under 18 U.S.C. § 3592(c)(6), the gov-
ernment also alleged that Defendants mur-
dered Rhone ‘‘in an especially heinous,
cruel, or depraved manner in that it in-
volved torture or serious physical abuse.’’
‘‘As indicated by the statute, a murder
may be especially heinous, cruel, or de-
praved if it involves either torture or seri-
ous physical abuse.’’  United States v.
Agofsky, 458 F.3d 369, 374 (5th Cir.2006).
Because the government does not assert
that Rhone was tortured, the question
here is reduced to whether there was suffi-
cient evidence to support the jury’s conclu-
sion that the murder involved ‘‘serious
physical abuse.’’

[33] In Agofsky, we held that ‘‘[f]or
serious physical abuse to be aggravating in
a murder case, a defendant must inflict
suffering or mutilation above and beyond
that necessary to cause death.  Further-
more, a defendant must intend such gratu-
itous violence for the murder to involve
serious physical abuse.’’  Id. (emphasis
added) (internal citation omitted).  The
Agofsky court held that these conditions
had been satisfied in that case, as the
defendant there repeatedly had stomped
on the victim’s face and neck even after
the victim lost consciousness.  Id. Beyond
presenting eyewitness accounts of the at-
tack, the government also had introduced
evidence that the ‘‘assault was so violent
that it splattered [the victim’s] blood and
other bodily fluids on the floor and wall.’’
Id. at 375.  Additionally, the medical evi-
dence adduced at trial revealed the exten-
sive nature of the victim’s injuries.  Id.
The court found the totality of this evi-

dence supported the conclusion that ‘‘a
rational jury could find beyond a reason-
able doubt that [the defendant] intended to
inflict (and in fact inflicted) more abuse
than necessary to cause [the victim’s]
death.’’  Id. at 374.

Similarly, in United States v. Ebron, we
held that the evidence in that case sup-
ported the determination that ‘‘a rational
trier of fact could have concluded, beyond
a reasonable doubt, that serious physical
abuse was involved in [the victim’s] mur-
der.’’  683 F.3d 105, 151 (5th Cir.2012).
As here, Ebron involved the murder of an
inmate who had been stabbed to death in
prison.  Id. At trial, the government had
established that the victim ‘‘was stabbed
106 times by a sharp, round instrument in
an eight-inch by four-inch area over his
heart, left lung, and liver.’’  Id. The court
explained that, based on this evidence, a
rational ‘‘trier of fact could have deter-
mined that the mutilation of [the victim’s]
body went above and beyond what [was]
necessary to cause death.’’  Id. Additional-
ly, the court concluded that, given ‘‘the
number of stab wounds,’’ as well as the
testimony indicating ‘‘that the assault ap-
peared to have been a message to the rest
of the inmate population,’’ ‘‘a rational trier
of fact could have also concluded that [the
defendant] specifically intended that [the
victim] be subjected to serious physical
abuse.’’  Id.

(b) Discussion

[34] Here, the government introduced
extensive evidence to establish that
Rhone’s murder involved serious physical
abuse that Defendants intended to inflict.
First, jurors saw a video of the crime,
which shows Defendants savagely killing
Rhone.  Jurors also heard from a prison
official who stated that, during the attack,
he tried to persuade Defendants ‘‘to stop
the assault’’ on Rhone by telling them,
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‘‘Look, he’s dead.  He’s dead.  The guy is
dead.  Get off of him.’’  Defendants re-
sponded by smirking and continuing their
attack, which the witness described as
‘‘frenzied.’’  A rational trier of fact could
have concluded from this that Defendants
intended to subject Rhone to serious phys-
ical abuse.

The jury also viewed photographs taken
shortly after the attack that showed
Rhone’s blood pooled on the prison’s floor
and running down its walls.  Moreover,
they heard evidence about the state of
Rhone’s body after the attack.  For exam-
ple, one inmate who saw Rhone’s corpse
described it as ‘‘a human being that was no
longer a human’’ because Rhone’s whole
‘‘body was a stab wound’’ and ‘‘[h]e was
pulp.’’  Further, the forensic pathologist
who performed Rhone’s autopsy testified
that Defendants had inflicted fifty stab
wounds to Rhone’s head and upper body:
eighteen to his front side, and thirty-two to
his back.  The pathologist also stated that
Rhone sustained numerous other lacera-
tions, abrasions, and trail wounds that
were not sufficiently deep to constitute
stab wounds.  Although the pathologist
testified that the stab wound to Rhone’s
heart was the ultimate cause of death, he
explained that several of his wounds could
have been fatal, suggesting that the as-
sault had been gratuitous.

We thus observe that many of the facts
here are analogous to those presented in
Agofsky and Ebron:  the attack was so
violent that it splattered Rhone’s blood on
the floor and walls, Rhone suffered exten-
sive injuries, and Rhone was stabbed mul-
tiple times beyond that necessary to pre-
cipitate death.  Defendants do not appear
to contest these facts, but instead argue
that the rapidity with which the murder
was carried out demonstrates a lack of
intent to inflict physical abuse separate
and apart from the murder itself.  Never-

theless, we already have rejected else-
where the notion that the alleged brevity
of an attack precludes a finding that it was
committed in an especially heinous, cruel,
or depraved manner.  Agofsky, 458 F.3d at
375 (‘‘[V]iolence need not be protracted to
be gratuitous.’’).

In sum, based on the evidence presented
at trial, a rational juror could have con-
cluded that Defendants intended to inflict,
and in fact did inflict, greater abuse than
that necessary to cause Rhone’s death.

(4) Future Dangerousness
(a) Applicable Law

Although 18 U.S.C. § 3592(c) sets forth
several statutory aggravating factors that
a jury may consider when contemplating
the propriety of the death penalty, the
statute also permits the jury to ‘‘consider
whether any other aggravating factor for
which notice has been given exists.’’  Here,
the government provided notice as to the
non-statutory aggravating factor of future
dangerousness.  In particular, the govern-
ment alleged that Defendants pose ‘‘a con-
tinuing and serious threat to the lives of
others because it is likely that [they] will
commit criminal acts of violence in the
future.’’  Where the alternative to the
death penalty is life imprisonment, the
government ‘‘is free to argue that the de-
fendant will pose a danger to others in
prison and that executing him is the only
means of eliminating the threat to the
safety of other inmates or prison staff.’’
Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154,
165 n. 5, 114 S.Ct. 2187, 129 L.Ed.2d 133
(1994).

[35] Under 18 U.S.C. § 3593(c), the
presentation of evidence is not limited by
‘‘the rules governing admission of evidence
at criminal trials.’’  Evidence of future
dangerousness necessarily touches upon a
variety of topics, including a defendant’s
juvenile record, prior murders and other
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crimes, and prison records.  See Fields,
483 F.3d at 324–25;  United States v. Bour-
geois, 423 F.3d 501, 511–12 (5th Cir.2005).
‘‘What is essential is that the jury have
before it all possible relevant information
about the individual defendant whose fate
it must determine.’’  Jurek v. Texas, 428
U.S. 262, 276, 96 S.Ct. 2950, 49 L.Ed.2d
929 (1976).

(b) Discussion

[36] At trial, the government argued
that Snarr would be a future threat to the
safety of others based on his continuing
pattern of violence and institutional mis-
conduct, lack of remorse, low likelihood of
rehabilitation, and membership in a racist
gang.  The government’s evidence on this
front included that:  two of Snarr’s fifteen
juvenile felonies were ‘‘life endangering’’;
on numerous occasions, Snarr had stabbed
or beaten fellow inmates—crimes often
motivated by Snarr’s membership in a rac-
ist prison gang;  Snarr twice had been
caught with weapons in the Beaumont
prison;  immediately after Rhone’s murder,
Snarr and Garcia had acted in a celebrato-
ry manner, ‘‘almost like TTT a bunch of
guys that just won a softball game’’;  and
Snarr had indicated to a fellow inmate that
he ‘‘had no intention of getting out [of
prison], that this was his life, this is what
he did, this is what he lives for.’’

As to Garcia, the government argued
that he would be a future threat to the
safety of others based on his continuing
pattern of violence and institutional mis-
conduct, lack of remorse, low likelihood of
rehabilitation, and membership in a racist
gang.  The government’s evidence on this
front included testimony that:  before en-
tering prison, Garcia participated in a
drive-by shooting and allegedly murdered
a man named Jacob Ponce; 14  Garcia had
stabbed or beaten fellow inmates on nu-

merous occasions, often in connection with
his membership in a violent prison gang;
prison officials twice had caught Garcia
with weapons;  Garcia gloated about or
celebrated the murders of Ponce and
Rhone;  and he had made numerous state-
ments to fellow inmates indicating his lack
of remorse and unlikely rehabilitation.

In arguing that this evidence was insuf-
ficient to allow the jury rationally to con-
clude that they posed a threat of future
dangerousness, Defendants primarily rely
on the testimony of a prison consultant
and former warden named Mark Bezy.
Bezy testified that Defendants would likely
be moved to the ADX prison—‘‘the most
secure facility the Bureau [of Prisons]
has’’—which essentially would preclude
them, he contended, from engaging in fur-
ther dangerous activity.  Whatever impact
Bezy’s testimony had, however, was under-
cut by a government rebuttal witness
named Greg Hershberger, who previously
served as the warden at the ADX. Hersh-
berger explained that the goal of the ADX
is to prepare inmates to function in the
general population of another prison facili-
ty.  Hershberger further testified that
based on their histories, Defendants likely
could successfully complete the ADX’s
transition program and be moved to the
general population of another facility.

Accordingly, based on Hershberger’s
testimony, the extensive evidence as to
Defendants’ pattern of violence and insti-
tutional misconduct, and Defendants’ at-
tack in this case on Rhone and the Beau-
mont penitentiary’s correctional officers, a
rational juror could have concluded that
Defendants pose a future threat to the
safety of other inmates or prison staff.

D. Motion to Sever

Prior to trial, the district court denied
Defendants’ motion to sever.  Defendants

14. We note that Garcia apparently was never charged with this murder.
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appeal that ruling, arguing that it is ‘‘likely
that [they] would have been acquitted or
not received the death penalty had each
been tried separately.’’

(1) Standard of Review

[37, 38] ‘‘There is a preference in the
federal system for joint trials of defen-
dants who are indicted together.’’ 15  Zafi-
ro v. United States, 506 U.S. 534, 537, 113
S.Ct. 933, 122 L.Ed.2d 317 (1993).  We
therefore review a grant or denial of sev-
erance for abuse of discretion.  United
States v. Lewis, 476 F.3d 369, 383 (5th
Cir.2007).

(2) Applicable Law

[39] Under Rule 14, ‘‘[i]f the joinder of
offenses or defendants in an indictment
TTT appears to prejudice a defendant or
the government, the court may order sepa-
rate trials of counts, sever the defendants’
trials, or provide any other relief that jus-
tice requires.’’  Fed.R.Crim.P. 14.  Rule
14, however, ‘‘does not require severance
even if prejudice is shown;  rather, it
leaves the tailoring of the relief to be
granted, if any, to the district court’s
sound discretion.’’  Zafiro, 506 U.S. at
538–39, 113 S.Ct. 933 (emphasis added).
‘‘[A] district court should grant a sever-
ance under Rule 14 only if there is a
serious risk that a joint trial would com-
promise a specific trial right of one of the
defendants, or prevent the jury from mak-
ing a reliable judgment about guilt or inno-
cence.’’  United States v. Owens, 683 F.3d
93, 98 (5th Cir.2012) (quoting Zafiro, 506
U.S. at 539, 113 S.Ct. 933).

[40, 41] To establish that the district
court abused its discretion in denying a
motion to sever, a ‘‘defendant must show
that:  (1) the joint trial prejudiced him to

such an extent that the district court could
not provide adequate protection;  and (2)
the prejudice outweighed the government’s
interest in economy of judicial administra-
tion.’’  Id. (citation omitted).  Because this
court is reluctant to vacate a conviction
based on a district court’s refusal to sever
a trial, general claims of prejudice are
insufficient to trigger reversal.  See Lewis,
476 F.3d at 384.  Rather, a ‘‘defendant
must ‘isolate events occurring in the
course of the trial and then TTT demon-
strate that such events caused substantial
prejudice.’ ’’  Id. (alteration in original)
(quoting United States v. Booker, 334 F.3d
406, 415 (5th Cir.2003)).  ‘‘The defendant
also must show that the district court’s
instructions to the jury did not adequately
protect him or her from any prejudice
resulting from the joint trial.’’  Owens, 683
F.3d at 98;  see also United States v. Er-
win, 793 F.2d 656, 665 (5th Cir.1986)
(‘‘[C]ompelling prejudice is not shown if it
appears that, through use of cautionary
instructions, the jury could reasonably sep-
arate the evidence and render impartial
verdicts as to each defendant.’’).

(3) Discussion

In asserting that they were improperly
denied separate trials, Defendants raise
three specific allegations of error.  First,
Snarr and Garcia each maintain that his
co-defendant would have offered beneficial
testimony on his behalf had the two not
been tried together.  Second, each defen-
dant contends that certain evidence pre-
sented against his co-defendant prejudiced
him by causing a ‘‘spillover’’ effect that
essentially caused the jury to impute the
other’s guilt upon him.  Finally, Defen-
dants complain that the district court’s

15. Defendants suggest that this preference
does not apply in capital cases.  However, as
we previously have explained, ‘‘the Federal

Death Penalty Act contains no special rules
regarding joinder of codefendants.’’  Bernard,
299 F.3d at 475 n. 5.
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jury instructions did not overcome the
prejudice that purportedly resulted from
the spillover of evidence.

(a) Co–Defendant Testimony

[42] Defendants urge that their joint
trial prejudiced them in that it precluded
Snarr from testifying on Garcia’s behalf,
and vice versa.  To obtain a severance
based on the desire to have a co-defendant
testify in his defense, a defendant must
establish:  (1) a bona fide need for the co-
defendant’s testimony;  (2) the substance
of the testimony;  (3) the exculpatory effect
of the testimony;  and (4) that the co-
defendant actually would testify if the trial
were severed.  Owens, 683 F.3d at 99.  In
Owens, we explained that the final prong
of this test is not satisfied merely with ‘‘[a]
statement from a defendant’s attorney TTT
that the defendant’s co-defendant would be
willing to testify,’’ or with statements from
the attorney regarding ‘‘the substance of
such testimony.’’  Id. at 100.  Rather, a
defendant must present an affidavit from
the co-defendant, or some other ‘‘similar
proof.’’  Id. at 99.

[43] Here, neither Snarr nor Garcia
has satisfied his burden of establishing
error, for neither has offered legally suffi-
cient proof that the other would have testi-
fied had the trial been severed.  The only
support Defendants point to is their attor-
neys’ statements that they would have
done so.  As explained, this is insufficient
to demonstrate that a motion to sever
should have been granted.16  Id.

(b) ‘‘Spillover’’ Effect

[44] Next, each defendant contends
that certain evidence presented against his

co-defendant prejudiced him by causing a
‘‘spillover’’ effect whereby the jury imput-
ed one defendant’s guilt upon the other. In
particular, Snarr alleges that evidence
about Garcia’s previous criminal history—
specifically testimony pertaining to the
murder of Jacob Ponce—prejudiced the
jury against him.  Similarly, Garcia argues
that evidence as to Snarr’s extensive crimi-
nal history, membership in a prison gang,
and prison misconduct prejudiced Garcia’s
right to a fair trial and to be sentenced
based on his own conduct rather than
Snarr’s.

[45] ‘‘A spillover effect, by itself, is an
insufficient predicate for a motion to sev-
er.’’  United States v. Bieganowski, 313
F.3d 264, 287 (5th Cir.2002).  Moreover,
contrary to Defendants’ implication, the
trial in this case was carefully structured
to prevent a spillover effect.  During the
eligibility phase, for example, the govern-
ment did not introduce any individual evi-
dence against Garcia until after it complet-
ed presentation of its evidence against
Snarr.17  Likewise, during the selection
phase, the government did not present any
evidence against Garcia until after it intro-
duced all evidence against Snarr.  With
the exception of one joint witness, Defen-
dants also presented their mitigating evi-
dence separately.

Notwithstanding Defendants’ assertions,
this careful structuring maintained a dis-
tinction between each defendant.  Fur-
thermore, Defendants’ assertions also fail
factually.  Although Garcia’s alleged mur-
der of Ponce certainly was compelling evi-
dence against him, the jury had ample
evidence to convict and sentence Snarr for

16. Because neither Snarr nor Garcia has
demonstrated that his co-defendant would
have testified if the trial had been severed, we
need not reach the other three prongs set
forth in Owens, 683 F.3d at 99.

17. After the government separately intro-
duced all individual evidence related to each
defendant, two witnesses whose testimony
concerned both defendants were called.
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his own criminal conduct.  Similarly, while
Garcia’s history of violence was not as
extensive as Snarr’s, the weight of the
evidence against him made it unnecessary
for the jury to impute Snarr’s misdeeds
upon Garcia.

In sum, given the careful manner by
which the district court conducted the tri-
al, the possibility of spillover was remote.
Each defendant’s criminal history justified
the jury’s conclusion that his individual
actions warranted the death penalty.

(c) Jury Instructions

[46] Finally, Defendants advance gen-
eral claims that the jury instructions were
insufficient to ‘‘overcome the prejudice
that resulted from’’ what they view as the
errors previously discussed.  Although we
find no error pertaining to Defendants’
previously alleged complaints, we also note
that Defendants have not demonstrated
that the district court’s instructions to the
jury did not adequately protect them from
any prejudice that may have resulted from
their joint trial.

The record here reflects that the district
court repeatedly instructed the jury that it
was required to consider separately each
defendant’s culpability.  After the guilt
phase, for example, the court instructed
the jury that ‘‘[t]he case of each defendant
and the evidence pertaining to that defen-
dant should be considered separately and
individually.  The fact that you may find
one of the defendants guilty or not guilty
should not control your verdict as to the
other defendant.’’  Similar instructions
were provided after the trial’s eligibility
and selection phases.  Likewise, in its pre-
liminary instructions preceding each
phase, the court stressed that although
Defendants were being tried jointly, ‘‘each
defendant is entitled to separate consider-
ation by the jury.  The case of each defen-
dant and the evidence pertaining to that

defendant should be considered separately
and individually.’’  In accordance with
these instructions, the jury returned sepa-
rate verdict forms for Snarr and Garcia
after each phase of the trial.

[47] Neither Snarr nor Garcia has of-
fered any specific argument or evidence
suggesting that the court’s instructions
were insufficient.  ‘‘Because it is presumed
that juries follow the instructions the court
gives them, we assume that the evidence
against each defendant was considered
separately and individually.’’  Owens, 683
F.3d at 99.

(4) Conclusion

Simply put, Defendants have not demon-
strated specific prejudice from the denial
of their motion to sever.  Accordingly, the
district court did not abuse its discretion in
denying the motion.

E. Constitutionality of the FDPA

Defendants filed in the district court a
motion to have the FDPA declared uncon-
stitutional.  In that motion, Defendants es-
sentially argued that the statutory aggra-
vating factors required by the FDPA are
equivalent to elements of a crime and,
thus, deserve the protections of the Feder-
al Rules of Evidence.  Accordingly, they
asserted that evidence related to those
factors may not be presented in the sen-
tencing hearing, because evidentiary stan-
dards are relaxed during that phase of the
trial.  The district court denied the motion
and Defendants now appeal.

(1) Standard of Review

[48] Constitutional challenges to feder-
al statutes are reviewed de novo.  United
States v. Jones, 132 F.3d 232, 239 (5th
Cir.1998).
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(2) Applicable Law and Related Dis-
cussion

[49] As mentioned above, the FDPA
provides:

The government may present any infor-
mation relevant to an aggravating factor
for which notice has been providedTTTT
Information is admissible regardless of
its admissibility under the rules govern-
ing admission of evidence at criminal
trials except that information may be
excluded if its probative value is out-
weighed by the danger of creating unfair
prejudice, confusing the issues, or mis-
leading the jury.

18 U.S.C. § 3593(c).  We previously have
explained that the FDPA’s evidentiary
standard is based on the principle that the
jury must ‘‘receive sufficient information
regarding the defendant and the offense in
order to make an individual sentencing
determination.’’  Jones, 132 F.3d at 241.
‘‘Consequently, the relaxed evidentiary
standard does not impair the reliability or
relevance of information at capital sentenc-
ing hearings, but helps to accomplish the
individualized sentencing required by the
constitution.’’  Id. at 242.  Accordingly,
this court consistently has held that the
FDPA’s relaxed evidentiary standard dur-
ing a defendant’s sentencing proceeding is
not unconstitutional.  See id.;  Webster,
162 F.3d at 354.

Defendants acknowledge that we previ-
ously have upheld the constitutionality of
the FDPA, but explain that they raise the
issue to preserve it for appeal to the Su-
preme Court.  Because they advance no
further argument in support of their claim,
we reject their contention that the FDPA
is unconstitutional.

F. Exclusion of Evidence Pertaining to
the Victim’s Character

Defendants further argue that the dis-
trict court committed reversible error by

excluding, during sentencing, certain evi-
dence of Rhone’s prior bad acts.  They
essentially argue that because the jury is
permitted to consider a ‘‘victim’s unique-
ness’’ in imposing punishment, that
‘‘uniqueness’’ necessarily includes evidence
related to the victim’s criminal back-
ground.  Defendants also assert that the
excluded evidence was necessary to give
the jury a proper understanding of the
circumstances that motivated Defendants
to murder Rhone.

(1) Standard of Review

[50, 51] At a sentencing hearing con-
ducted pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3593(c),
‘‘information may be presented as to any
matter relevant to the sentence, including
any mitigating or aggravating factor.’’  A
‘‘district court has ‘considerable discretion
in controlling the presentation of the ‘in-
formation’ to the jury in both content and
form.’ ’’  United States v. Hall, 152 F.3d
381, 397 (5th Cir.1998) (quoting United
States v. McVeigh, 944 F.Supp. 1478, 1487
(D.Colo.1996)), abrogated on other grounds
by Martinez–Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 120
S.Ct. 774.  We review for abuse of discre-
tion. Id.

(2) Applicable Law

Under 18 U.S.C. § 3593(c), a defendant
may present any information at sentencing
‘‘relevant to a mitigating factor.’’  Like-
wise, the government is permitted to
‘‘present any information relevant to an
aggravating factor for which notice has
been provided.’’ 18 U.S.C. § 3593(c).  As
previously noted, ‘‘[i]nformation is admissi-
ble regardless of its admissibility under
the rules governing admission of evidence
at criminal trials.’’  Id.

[52] As part of this ‘‘information,’’ 18
U.S.C. § 3593(a) permits the government,
with proper notice, to introduce victim im-
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pact evidence.  As explained by the Su-
preme Court, ‘‘[v]ictim impact evidence is
simply another form or method of inform-
ing the sentencing authority about the spe-
cific harm caused by the crime in ques-
tion.’’  Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808,
825, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720
(1991).  By considering such evidence, ju-
ries are able to assess more ‘‘meaningfully
the defendant’s moral culpability and
blameworthiness.’’  Id. Introduction of vic-
tim impact evidence remains bounded,
however, by the requirement that it be
relevant, and that its probative value out-
weigh ‘‘the danger of creating unfair preju-
dice, confusing the issues, or misleading
the jury.’’  18 U.S.C. § 3593(c);  see also
Payne, 501 U.S. at 827, 111 S.Ct. 2597.

(3) Discussion

[53] Defendants maintain that the dis-
trict court impaired their ability to prove
their mitigating factors related to Rhone
because the court excluded certain evi-
dence of his poor character.  Casting their
claim as the right to present ‘‘reverse vic-
tim impact’’ testimony under Payne, De-
fendants contend that it was impermissible
for the court to exclude ‘‘evidence of the
negative and paint a slanted picture of the
positive.’’  In particular, Snarr and Garcia
complain of the court’s exclusion of evi-
dence pertaining to Rhone’s alleged exten-
sive ‘‘record of violence and threats to
other inmates.’’  This record, Defendants
submit, included numerous incidents in-
volving assaults with serious bodily injury,
fighting, threatening bodily harm, possess-

ing dangerous weapons, and other similar
misdeeds.

Defendants’ argument as to ‘‘reverse
victim impact’’ misapprehends, however,
the purpose of victim impact evidence.
Contrary to Defendants’ assertions—which
seem to suggest that a defendant is less
culpable if he murders a vile person—the
purpose of permitting victim impact evi-
dence is to counteract a defendant’s miti-
gating evidence and fully explain to the
sentencing authority the harm caused by
the defendant’s crime.  See Payne, 501
U.S. at 825, 111 S.Ct. 2597.  Defendants
cite no authority that supports their appar-
ent proposition that a defendant must be
permitted to offer general evidence of the
victim’s bad character during the sentenc-
ing phase of a federal capital murder case.

Moreover, to the degree Defendants
maintain that the excluded evidence was
necessary to provide a clear picture of the
circumstances allegedly precipitating the
murder, we note that the evidence the
court did admit about Rhone gave the jury
the context it needed to resolve this is-
sue.18  During opening arguments, for ex-
ample, Defendants claimed that Rhone was
the first aggressor, that his conduct was
‘‘aggressive and caustic,’’ that he yelled
racial insults at them ‘‘all night long’’ on
the night before the murder, and that he
threatened to kill Defendants.  Likewise,
Defendants elicited testimony during the
trial to the effect that Rhone was not
viewed as a peaceful and law-abiding in-
mate, that he was unpredictable and had a

18. The district court allowed much of this
evidence—particularly that pertaining to
threats Rhone allegedly made against Defen-
dants—despite its view that the evidence was
inadmissible.  Other evidence pertaining to
Rhone’s mental health, criminal history, disci-
plinary records, and remote instances of insti-
tutional misbehavior properly was excluded
by the court on relevance grounds, as Defen-
dants were unaware of that evidence at the

time of the murder.  Furthermore, even if
relevant, the district court also excluded this
evidence based on its holding that its proba-
tive value was outweighed by the danger of
creating unfair prejudice, confusing the is-
sues, and misleading the jury.  Section
3593(c) permits the court to so hold, and
Defendants present no compelling argument
suggesting that this was an abuse of the
court’s discretion.
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violent temper, that he had committed
lewd acts while incarcerated, and that he
had threatened Defendants.  Defendants
presented similar evidence during the se-
lection phase of the trial.

Because the evidence Defendants sought
to introduce was irrelevant or highly prej-
udicial, the district court did not abuse its
discretion in excluding it.  Both Snarr and
Garcia had ample opportunity to advance
their theory that Rhone’s conduct was a
mitigating factor.  That the jury concluded
otherwise reflects the overwhelming na-
ture of the evidence against them, not
judicial error.

G. Exclusion of ‘‘Execution Impact’’
Evidence

At trial, Garcia sought to introduce evi-
dence as to the impact his execution would
have on certain of his family members.
The district court excluded the evidence
based on its holding that precedent from
this court precludes execution impact testi-
mony by a defendant’s family and friends.
Defendants appeal.19

(1) Standard of Review

As noted above, this court reviews the
district court’s decisions regarding the
presentation of information during a capi-
tal sentencing hearing under the abuse of
discretion standard.  Hall, 152 F.3d at
397.

(2) Applicable Law

[54] Because such evidence ‘‘does not
reflect on [the defendant’s] background or
character or the circumstances of his
crime,’’ ‘‘the Supreme Court has never in-
cluded friend/family impact testimony
among the categories of mitigating evi-
dence that must be admitted’’ during a
capital trial.  Jackson v. Dretke, 450 F.3d
614, 618 (5th Cir.2006).  Accordingly, this
court consistently has affirmed the exclu-
sion of execution impact testimony similar
to that proffered by Garcia.  See, e.g.,
Jackson, 549 F.3d at 970 n. 3 (affirming
the district court’s conclusion ‘‘that general
pleas for mercy would not be permitted’’
from the defendant’s mother);  Kelly v.
Lynaugh, 862 F.2d 1126, 1133 n. 12 (5th
Cir.1988) (a family member’s plea to the
jury that it spare the defendant’s life did
not constitute mitigating evidence, as it did
‘‘not reflect on [the defendant’s] personal
culpability’’).  Other courts are in accord.
See, e.g., Stenson v. Lambert, 504 F.3d 873,
891–92 (9th Cir.2007) (highlighting that the
defendant could not ‘‘point to any federal
case requiring admission of ‘execution im-
pact’ testimony because there are no such
cases’’).20

(3) Discussion

[55] Defendants unpersuasively argue
that reliance on our prior cases is mis-
placed.21  They urge us to disregard their

19. Snarr joins this appeal based on his con-
tention that because ‘‘Garcia was not afford-
ed a fair trial, TTT it is reasonable to conclude
that the jury was likely eased into the death
sentence for Snarr by the joint death sen-
tence of Garcia.’’  This argument neglects the
individual nature of sentencing evidence pre-
sented against each defendant, as previously
described in connection with Defendants’ mo-
tion to sever.  Nevertheless, because we find
Garcia’s claim to be meritless, we need not
dwell on Snarr’s contention.

20. Although some courts evidently permit exe-
cution impact testimony, see Wright v. Bell,
619 F.3d 586, 597–98 (6th Cir.2010);  Sinister-
ra v. United States, 600 F.3d 900, 909–10 (8th
Cir.2010), none appear to require it.

21. Defendants suggest, for example, that
Dretke is inapposite because it involved re-
view, under the Antiterrorism and Effective
Death Penalty Act, of a state court’s decision
to exclude execution impact testimony.  Al-
though it is true that Dretke addressed
whether the state court’s decision was ‘‘an
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precedential nature and instead conclude
that the Supreme Court’s analysis in
Payne, which upheld the introduction of
victim impact evidence, applies equally
well to execution impact evidence.  In oth-
er words, they contend that just as a sen-
tencing authority should be permitted to
know about the individual characteristics
of the murder victim, it should also be
permitted to hear information about the
convicted capital defendant—information
that necessarily includes evidence about
the defendant’s family and the impact his
execution would have on them.

Defendants again ignore the reasoning
behind the Court’s holding in Payne.  Be-
cause victim impact evidence relates to the
harm caused by the defendant, Payne held
that it is relevant to the jury’s assessment
of ‘‘the defendant’s moral culpability and
blameworthiness.’’  501 U.S. at 825, 111
S.Ct. 2597.  In this respect, victim impact
evidence fundamentally differs from execu-
tion impact evidence, which in no way re-
flects on the defendant’s culpability.  For
this reason, as we already have explained,
the Supreme Court never has held that
execution impact evidence must be admit-
ted in capital cases.  See Dretke, 450 F.3d
at 618.  Defendants present no persuasive
argument suggesting we should so hold
now.

Accordingly, we find no error in the
district court’s decision to exclude Garcia’s

proffered evidence regarding the impact
his execution would have on his family.

H. Funding for Investigators and Ex-
perts

Defendants next maintain that they
were denied due process when this court’s
chief judge issued an order, pursuant to
the Criminal Justice Act (‘‘CJA’’), partially
reducing and partially denying funds to
Garcia for the retention of certain experts
and investigators.22  Because the govern-
ment suggests that we lack jurisdiction to
review this claim, we must first consider
the precise nature of Defendants’ claim
and our authority to review it.

(1) Background

Under the CJA, ‘‘a person who is finan-
cially unable to obtain investigative, ex-
pert, or other services necessary for ade-
quate representation may request them in
an ex parte application.’’  18 U.S.C.
§ 3006A(e)(1).  Upon a finding that such
resources ‘‘are reasonably necessary for
the representation of the defendant TTT
the court may authorize the defendant’s
attorneys to obtain such services on behalf
of the defendant and, if so authorized, shall
order the payment of fees and expenses
therefor.’’  Id. § 3599(f).  Significantly,
however, fees and expenses for these re-
sources ‘‘shall not exceed $7,500 in any

unreasonable application of Supreme Court
precedent,’’ 450 F.3d at 615, Defendants do
not explain how that leads to their conclu-
sion that Dretke’s reasoning is inapt here.
Furthermore, Defendants’ primary argument
against the application of Jackson and Kelly
seems to be that those cases merely ad-
dressed this issue via footnote.  This too is
true, but it does not negate the force of the
reasoning underlying those footnotes, nor
does it disturb the binding nature of those
cases upon this court.  ‘‘It is a well-settled
Fifth Circuit rule of orderliness that one pan-
el of our court may not overturn another
panel’s decision, absent an intervening

change in the law, such as by a statutory
amendment, or the Supreme Court, or our
en banc court.’’  Jacobs v. Nat’l Drug Intelli-
gence Ctr., 548 F.3d 375, 378 (5th Cir.2008).
Defendants do not suggest that there has
been such an intervening change in the law.

22. Snarr again joins this appeal, though as
we already have noted, his argument over-
looks the individual nature of the sentencing
process.  However, because we again find
Garcia’s claim to be without merit, we need
not linger on Snarr’s claim.
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case, unless payment in excess of that limit
is certified by the court TTT as necessary
to provide fair compensation for services of
an unusual character or duration, and the
amount of the excess payment is approved
by the chief judge of the circuit.’’  Id.
§ 3599(g)(2).

Here, Garcia submitted a proposed bud-
get requesting funds for the following ex-
perts, investigative services, and expenses:
1 Blood splatter expert/crime scene expert TT $ 10,000
1 Criminologist TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 10,000
1 DNA expert TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 7,500
1 Cultural expert TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 19,000
1 Expenses TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 5,000
1 Investigators TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 25,000
1 Mental health expertsTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 45,000
1 Mitigation expertTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 25,000
1 Pathologist TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 10,000
1 Prison experts TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 25,000
1 Travel costs TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $ 15,000
1 Total TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $196,500

As relevant here, the district court ap-
proved the budget after modifying it by:
(1) reducing to $15,000 funds for a cultural
expert, and (2) reducing to $5,000 funds for
a pathologist.  Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 3599(g)(2), this court’s chief judge re-
viewed the budget, after which she and the
district court entered an order reducing
the funding for experts and investigative
services to the following: 23

1 Investigators and mitigation experts TTTTTT $30,000
Mental health expert, pathologist, and

1 psychologist TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $35,000
1 Total TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $65,000

Defendants subsequently entered a mo-
tion for the district court to reconsider the
budget.  At a hearing related thereto, Gar-
cia presented various witnesses who testi-
fied as to the necessity for Garcia to retain
prison, cultural, and neurological experts.
A contractor with the Federal Death Pen-
alty Resource Council also testified that
Garcia’s proposed budget was reasonable.
After the hearing, the district court sub-
mitted a memorandum to this court’s chief

judge requesting approval for the follow-
ing additional funding:
1 Mental health neurological expert TTTTTTTT $15,000
1 Criminologist/prison culture expert and TTT $35,000

prison administration expert
1 Cultural mitigation expert TTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $15,000
1 Total TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT $65,000

Based on this request, Garcia was granted
approval for an additional $20,000 for ex-
perts and other services.  Garcia was de-
nied funds for a ‘‘Mexican cultural expert,’’
however, based on the chief judge’s ruling
that ‘‘it would be inappropriate for testi-
mony to be adduced by either party char-
acterizing the defendant according to his
national origin.’’  Nevertheless, the district
court expressly ruled that the chief judge’s
order did ‘‘not preclude the defendant
from presenting mitigating information re-
garding the effects and experiences of
race, national origin, and/or culture on the
defendant through other experts, friends,
or family members.’’  See Webster, 162
F.3d at 356–57.

(2) Jurisdictional Challenge

[56] On appeal, Defendants argue that
the order from this court’s chief judge
partially denying and partially reducing
funds for their experts denied them due
process.  The government suggests, how-
ever, that based on our holding in In re
Marcum L.L.P., 670 F.3d 636 (5th Cir.
2012), we lack jurisdiction to consider De-
fendants’ claim.

In Marcum, the petitioner (‘‘Marcum’’)
sought to appeal an order this court’s chief
judge issued pursuant to section
3006A(e)(3) of the CJA. Id. at 637.  Simi-
larly to section 3599(g)(2) of the CJA—the
provision at issue here—section
3006A(e)(3) mandates that payments to ex-
perts in excess of $2,400 be certified by the
district court and approved ‘‘by the chief

23. Although travel and other expenses were
removed from the budget, the order stated

that they were to be submitted as incurred.

A-39



404 704 FEDERAL REPORTER, 3d SERIES

judge of the circuit.’’  18 U.S.C.
§ 3006A(e)(3).  Acting pursuant to that
provision, the chief judge had issued an
order partially approving Marcum’s fees in
the underlying case, and directing him to
‘‘continue [to] work on’’ it, despite his de-
sire to resign.  Marcum, 670 F.3d at 637.
Marcum appealed to this court for relief,
but we held that we were ‘‘without juris-
diction to consider [the] appeal.’’  Id. at
638.

The CJA, we noted, ‘‘is silent on the
availability of judicial review TTT of the
decision by the chief judge of the circuit
denying approval of the full amount certi-
fied by the court in which the representa-
tion was rendered.’’  Id. (alteration in orig-
inal) (quoting United States v. D’Andrea,
612 F.2d 1386, 1387 (7th Cir.1980)).  Fur-
thermore, we observed that such orders
clearly were neither final district court
decisions under 28 U.S.C. § 1291, nor ap-
pealable interlocutory orders under 28
U.S.C. § 1292.  Id. Accordingly, adopting
the view of the D’Andrea court, we held
that under the CJA:

[W]hen the chief judge of the circuit has
approved compensation or reimburse-
ment less than that amount certified by
the court in which the representation
was rendered, counsel may request re-
consideration by motion.  However, this
motion is addressed solely to the chief
judge.  Upon disposition of the request
for the chief judge to review his deci-
sion, further review of the chief judge’s
decision is not available from this Court
and any counsel’s further remedy lies in
a mandamus action in the United States
Supreme Court.

Id. (alteration in original) (quoting D’An-
drea, 612 F.2d at 1387–88).24

The government thus suggests that
Marcum precludes our review of Defen-
dants’ claim.  Unlike in Marcum, however,
Defendants here do not directly appeal the
chief judge’s order.  Rather, their claim is
that as a result of that order, they lacked
the funds necessary to present an ade-
quate defense, and therefore were denied
due process.  In other words, the appeal
here relates to Defendants’ ultimate con-
victions and sentences, which are final
judgments.  See United States v. Bloomer,
150 F.3d 146, 149 (2d Cir.1998) (emphasiz-
ing the permissibility of appellate review
of CJA ‘‘determinations that impact a de-
fendant’s trial, sentence, or collateral chal-
lenge to a conviction or sentence’’);  United
States v. Fields, 722 F.2d 549, 550 (9th
Cir.1983) (holding ‘‘that in an appeal from
a final conviction,’’ the court has ‘‘jurisdic-
tion to review a challenge to a denial TTT
of defendant’s request for additional inves-
tigative funds’’).  Accordingly, we have ju-
risdiction to consider Defendants’ due pro-
cess claim under 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

(3) Standard of Review

[57] We review a district court’s denial
of funding for expert witnesses for abuse
of discretion.25  See United States v. Cas-
tro, 15 F.3d 417, 421 (5th Cir.1994).

(4) Applicable Law

[58] ‘‘[A] criminal trial is fundamental-
ly unfair if the State proceeds against an
indigent defendant without making certain
that he has access to the raw materials

24. As explained in Marcum, other courts are
in accord.  See, e.g., United States v. Obasi,
435 F.3d 847, 852 (8th Cir.2006) (‘‘[A] deter-
mination by the chief circuit judge [under the
CJA] can only be challenged by seeking recon-
sideration or mandamus in the Supreme
Court.’’).

25. As noted above, the budget order that re-
duced Garcia’s available funds was entered by
both this court’s chief judge and the district
court.
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integral to the building of an effective de-
fense.’’  Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 77,
105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985).
However, an indigent defendant does not
have an automatic right to expert assis-
tance upon demand.  Yohey v. Collins, 985
F.2d 222, 227 (5th Cir.1993).  Under Ake,
the government must ‘‘assure the defen-
dant access to a competent psychiatrist’’
when he ‘‘demonstrates to the trial judge
that his sanity at the time of the offense is
to be a significant factor at trial.’’  470
U.S. at 83, 105 S.Ct. 1087.  Non-psychiat-
ric experts ‘‘should be provided only if the
evidence is ‘both critical to the conviction
and subject to varying expert opinion.’ ’’
Yohey, 985 F.2d at 227 (quoting Scott v.
Louisiana, 934 F.2d 631, 633 (5th Cir.
1991) (internal quotation marks omitted)).
To demonstrate reversible error on the
basis that he lacked inadequate funds for
expert witnesses, a defendant must ‘‘estab-
lish a reasonable probability that the re-
quested experts would have been of assis-
tance to the defense and that denial of
such expert assistance resulted in a funda-
mentally unfair trial.’’  Id.

(5) Discussion

[59] Here, the essence of Defendants’
complaint is that the order reducing fund-
ing for experts and investigators denied
Garcia the right to present cultural, prison,
and neurological experts.  Contrary to De-
fendants’ assertions, however, Garcia was
not denied the right to present testimony
from a prison or neurological expert.  The
court ultimately authorized Garcia $85,000
for experts and investigators, and largely
permitted Garcia to distribute those funds
as he saw fit.  In particular, the first
budget order authorized $30,000 for inves-
tigators and mitigation experts, and
$35,000 for mental health experts, patholo-

gists, and psychologists.  After Garcia’s
motion for reconsideration, the court au-
thorized an additional $20,000 specifically
for prison and neurological experts.26  The
only express prohibition placed on Garcia’s
expenditures was that they could not be
used to hire a cultural expert.  Neverthe-
less, as noted earlier, the district court
explicitly indicated that this did not pre-
clude Garcia ‘‘from presenting mitigating
information regarding the effects and ex-
periences of race, national origin, and/or
culture on the defendant through other
experts, friends, or family members.’’  To
that end, Garcia did in fact present evi-
dence of his cultural background through
family members, as well as an expert psy-
chologist, Dr. Jolie Brams.

Equally important, Defendants have
failed to establish a reasonable probability
that the requested experts would have
been of assistance and that their absence
resulted in a fundamentally unfair trial.
While Defendants focus on the experts
Garcia did not retain, they neglect that Dr.
Brams provided extensive evidence about
the impact on Garcia of his upbringing, his
culture, and his life in prison.  Thus, the
fact that Garcia did not have additional
experts did not render his trial fundamen-
tally unfair, given that Dr. Brams was able
to present much, if not all, of the evidence
Garcia believed to be vital for mitigation
purposes.  See United States v. Mikos, 539
F.3d 706, 712 (7th Cir.2008) (‘‘Just as a
defendant who relies on counsel at public
expense must accept a competent lawyer,
rather than Clarence Darrow, so a defen-
dant who relies on public funds for expert
assistance must be satisfied with a compe-
tent expert.’’ (citing Morris v. Slappy, 461
U.S. 1, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 75 L.Ed.2d 610
(1983))).  Moreover, as discussed through-
out this opinion, the government’s case

26. To be sure, the second order also author-
ized Garcia to use—at his preference—the

additional funds for experts and services al-
ready approved under the first order.
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against Defendants was especially strong.
Indeed, of the eighty-six mitigating factors
submitted by Garcia, only eleven were
found to exist by one or more jurors.27

Defendants have not advanced a credible
argument that additional experts would
have changed the jury’s calculus.

Simply put, what Ake and its progeny
guarantee to defendants is ‘‘an adequate
opportunity [for them] to present their
claims fairly within the adversary system.’’
470 U.S. at 77, 105 S.Ct. 1087 (quoting
Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 612, 94 S.Ct.
2437, 41 L.Ed.2d 341 (1974)).  Here, De-
fendants were afforded the funding neces-
sary to do so.  That the district court did
not provide ‘‘expert assistance upon de-
mand,’’ Yohey, 985 F.2d at 227, does not
constitute an abuse of the court’s discre-
tion.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM
Defendants’ convictions and capital sen-
tences in all respects.
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IN THE  
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  

FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  
    Plaintiff-Appellee,  
 
 V.        No. 10-40525 
 
MARK ISAAC SNARR,  
EDGAR BALTAZAR GARCIA, Defendants-Appellants. 
 

On Appeal from the United States District Court  
for the Eastern District of Texas  
(E.D. Tex. Crim. No. 1:09cr15) 

 
CORRECTED 

MOTION TO RECALL THE MANDATE AND  
FOR LEAVE TO FILE OUT-OF-TIME PETITION FOR REHEARING 

OR FOR OUT-OF-TIME RECONSIDERATION  
IN LIGHT OF AYESTAS V. DAVIS 

 
Defendant Appellant, Mark Isaac Snarr, respectfully asks this Court to recall 

its mandate pursuant to Fifth Circuit Rule 41.2 and to grant leave to file an out-of-

time petition for panel rehearing pursuant to Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure 

Rule 40 or out-of-time reconsideration to address application of the decision of the 

Supreme Court of the United States in Ayestas v. Davis, 138 S. Ct. 1080 (2018), to 

Defendants. Ayestas overrules Circuit precedent regarding the reviewability and 

standard of review for assessing the merit of indigent applicants’ requests for funds 

pursuant to federal statute. Proper application of the law would likely have 
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impacted the outcome of Defendants’ case, and the carrying out of death sentences 

imposed without adherence to the proper standard would be a great injustice. After 

supplemental briefing, and upon proper consideration and application of Ayestas to 

Defendants’ Claim XIX, this Court should find that a new sentencing hearing is 

appropriate and necessary. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 
 

Defendants Mark Isaac Snarr and Edgar Baltazar Garcia were tried jointly 

over their objections for the November 28, 2007, murder of fellow inmate Gabriel 

Rhones in the United States Penitentiary in Beaumont, Texas. United States v. 

Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d 368, 377 (5th Cir. 2013). One jury heard evidence and 

argument pertaining to both defendants, and was assigned responsibility for 

determining Defendants’ guilt and eligibility for a capital sentence, and for 

sentencing both defendants to death or life imprisonment for their capital 

convictions. Substantial portions of the evidence and arguments presented by the 

government and by the defense applied to both defendants, and counsel for either 

defendant assumed responsibility for making arguments and examining witnesses 

on behalf of both Defendants. In May, 2010, jurors determined that both Snarr and 

Garcia were guilty of murder and eligible for the death penalty, and sentenced both 

to death. Id. at 377–78.  
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On appeal, Defendants raised numerous challenges, including a claim that 

this Court’s Chief Judge erred by overruling the district court and “partially 

reducing . . . funds Garcia requested for the retention of certain investigators and 

experts.” Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d at 378. Citing 18 U.S.C. § 3006A and United 

States v. Castro, 15 F.3d 417 (5th Cir. 1994), Defendants’ Claim XIX alleged that 

the Chief Judge erred in denying pre-trial requests for reasonably necessary 

funding to be provided indigent defendants, and that the failure to properly apply 

the statute denied Defendants due process. See Castro, 15 F.3d at 421 (defendant 

was entitled to relief for denial of expert assistance if he showed “a denial of due 

process under Ake v. Oklahoma, . . . or an abuse of discretion under 18 U.S.C. § 

3006A.”). The government responded, arguing that Circuit precedent established 

that the Chief Judge’s denial of funding under the statute was not reviewable on 

appeal, and that there was not a denial of due process. On January 8, 2013, this 

Court affirmed Defendants’ convictions and death sentences, considering only the 

merits of the due process argument in Claim XIX, and finding that Defendants had 

failed to show the trial was fundamentally unfair. Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d at 

402–06. 

On March 21, 2018, the Supreme Court of the United States decided Ayestas 

v. Davis, 138 S. Ct. 1080, recognizing that funding decisions under 18 U.S.C. 

      Case: 10-40525      Document: 00514556730     Page: 3     Date Filed: 07/16/2018

A-45



4 
 
 
 
 

§3599 are reviewable judicial decisions, and correcting this Court’s interpretation 

of the standard applied to requests for funding made pursuant to §3599. The Court 

vacated the judgment below and remanded Ayestas’s case, holding that the Fifth 

Circuit has applied a standard that is too demanding when determining whether to 

authorize funds sought by indigent individuals facing the death penalty for services 

provided by experts and investigators. See id. at 1092. Snarr now brings this 

motion to recall the mandate from this Court’s appellate decision and to permit an 

out-of-time petition for rehearing of the appeal, or, alternatively, to permit an out-

of-time panel rehearing of the Chief Judge’s denial of requested funding. 

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

This Court has the “inherent power to recall [its] mandates” to prevent 

injustice. United States v. Tolliver, 116 F.3d 120, 123 (5th Cir. 1997); Calderon v. 

Thompson, 523 U.S. 538, 549–50 (1998). Fifth Circuit Rule 41.2 provides that, 

“[o]nce issued a mandate will not be recalled except to prevent injustice.” 5th Cir. 

R. 41.2. The Court should determine whether to exercise its discretion to recall its 

mandate to prevent injustice on a case-by-case basis. Am. Iron & Steel Inst. v. EPA, 

560 F.2d 589, 594-95 (3d Cir. 1977). 

An injustice recognized as a valid basis for recalling the mandate occurs 

“when a subsequent decision by the Supreme Court renders a previous appellate 
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decision demonstrably wrong.” Tolliver, 116 F.3d at 123; United States v. Emeary, 

794 F.3d 526, 530 (5th Cir. 2015) (mandate recalled over four years after it issued 

after the Supreme Court decision in Johnson v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2551 

(2015), showed that the district court’s sentencing decision and this Court’s 

acceptance of an Anders brief were demonstrably wrong); United States v. Fraga-

Araigo, No. 00-20317, 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 31016 (5th Cir. Nov. 20, 2001) 

(unpublished) (mandate recalled after this Court’s decision in United States v. 

Chapa-Garza, 243 F.3d 1278 (5th Cir. 2001), changed the law previously applied 

to the defendant to affirm a sentencing enhancement); United States v. Rangel-

Mendoza, No. 00-40561, 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 31428 (5th Cir. Oct. 1, 2001) 

(unpublished) (same); United States v. Hawkins, 2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 29275 

(5th Cir. Oct. 11, 2002) (unpublished) (mandate recalled after this Court’s en banc 

decision in United States v. Charles, 301 F.3d 309, 312–14 (5th Cir. 2002), 

changed the law as to the relevant sentence enhancement); United States v. Harris, 

2002 U.S. App. LEXIS 28437 (5th Cir. Dec. 2, 2002) (same); see also Legate v. 

Maloney, 348 F.2d 164, 166 (1st Cir. 1965); Am. Iron & Steel Inst. v. EPA, 560 

F.2d 589, 593–95 (3d Cir. 1977); Greater Boston Television Corp. v. F.C.C., 463 

F.2d 268, 278 n.12 (D.C. Cir. 1971). 
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This Court also has the authority to enlarge the time for filing a petition for 

rehearing and will do so for “good cause shown” or “to serve the interests of 

justice,” Knoblauch v. C.I.R., 752 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir. 1985); see also Fed. R. 

App. P. 40(a)(1)(“Unless the time is . . . extended by order”); Young v. Harper, 

520 U.S. 143, 147 n. 1 (1997) (noting that court of appeals had power to allow a 

petition for rehearing and to treat it as timely although it was filed late). 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE COURT SHOULD RECALL ITS MANDATE TO PREVENT 
INJUSTICE IN THIS CAPITAL CASE—THE AYESTAS DECISION 
HAS RENDERED THIS COURT’S PREVIOUS APPELLATE 
DECISION DEMONSTRABLY WRONG 

A. In Ayestas v. Davis, 584 U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 1080 (2018), the Supreme 
Court overruled Circuit precedent regarding the reviewability of 
funding decisions and the correct standard applicable to review funding 
decisions under 18 U.S.C. § 3599. 
 
In Ayestas v. Davis, the Supreme Court addressed the indigent petitioner’s 

claim that he was wrongly denied funding requested pursuant to federal statute that 

was reasonably necessary to prove entitlement to federal habeas relief. 584 U.S. 

___, 138 S. Ct. 1080, 1085 (2018). The Court first rejected the State’s argument 

that the Supreme Court (and the Court of Appeals) lacked jurisdiction to resolve 

the claim because “denial of petitioner’s funding request was an administrative, not 

a judicial, decision” and beyond the scope of each court’s jurisdiction to review. 
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Ayestas, 138 S. Ct. at 1088–89. Instead, the Court found that funding decisions 

made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3599, while ex parte, are not non-adversarial, and 

those decisions are appealable judicial determinations. Id. at 1089–92. 

The unanimous Ayestas Court made clear that the standard applied to 

assessing the merits of applications for funding under § 3599 in this Court at the 

time of Defendant’s trial was erroneous. 138 S. Ct. at 1085 (“lower courts applied 

the wrong legal standard”). The Court instructed that proper application of the 

“reasonably necessary” standard requires courts:  

to consider the potential merit of the claims that the applicant wants to 
pursue, the likelihood that the services will generate useful and 
admissible evidence, and the prospect that the applicant will be able to 
clear any procedural hurdles standing in the way[1]. . . . To be clear, a 
funding applicant must not be expected to prove that he will be able to 
win relief if given the services he seeks. 
 

Ayestas, 138 S. Ct. at 1094. It does not, as the Fifth Circuit has required, mean that 

an individual seeking funding for services must show “substantial need.” Id. at 

1092, 1095. Instead, it is sufficient for an applicant to demonstrate that the services 

are likely to “generate useful and admissible evidence” in support of “a plausible 

defense.” Ayestas, 138 S. Ct. at 1094.   

                                                
1 Ayestas was decided in the context of a federal habeas determination, but the statute (including 
the Fifth Circuit’s incorrect application) applies equally to pre-trial funding requests. See 18 
U.S.C. §3599(a)(1). 
2 This Court recognized in Castro that a defendant was entitled to relief for denial of expert 
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This Court has acknowledged that Ayestas rejected the standard previously 

used by this Circuit, and has begun reviewing cases involving denials of funding 

that occurred under application of the erroneous standard. See, e.g., Sorto v. Davis, 

716 Fed. Appx. 366 (5th Cir. Mar. 28, 2018) (noting that Ayestas, “rejected our 

Circuit’s standard for determining whether investigative funds pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. §3599(f) are ‘reasonably necessary’”); Robertson v. Davis, 2018 U.S. App. 

LEXIS 18311 (5th Cir. July 5, 2018) (holding that Ayestas “rejected our Circuit’s 

standard for determining whether investigative funds pursuant to § 3599(f) are 

‘reasonably necessary’” and vacating the 2013 order denying funding and 

remanding to the district court).  

B. Before the decision in Ayestas, the government argued successfully that 
under Circuit precedent Defendants could not appeal the Chief Judge’s 
statutory funding decision. 

 
Defendant’s Claim XIX appealed the Chief Judge’s significant denial of 

funds that precluded Defendants from obtaining the service of Dr. Craig Haney, an 

expert in the impact of severe incarceration on physical and mental health. The 

claim relied on both the denial of due process and the court’s abuse of discretion in 

denying funding reasonably necessary for the penalty phase of the joint capital 

trial. ECF No. 511565792 at 215 (Joint Brief for Appellants) (in the Standard of 

Review and Reviewability section, Defendants relied on 18 U.S.C. § 3006A and 
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United States v. Castro,2 15 F.3d 417, 421 (5th Cir. 1994)); see also id. at 232 

(arguing that the Court made a clear error, and denied Defendants a fair trial). In 

response, the government argued that the Chief Judge’s denial of funds was a non-

adversarial, administrative decision, rather than a judicial decision, and not 

reviewable on appeal. ECF No. 511895802 (Brief for USA) at pp.167–68.  The 

government also argued that the correct standard for judging alleged violations in 

providing funding to indigent applicants was whether “the evidence is ‘both 

“critical” to the conviction and subject to varying expert opinion.’” Id. at 171 

(quoting Yohey v. Collins, 985 F.2d 222, 227 (5th Cir. 1993)). This Court found 

that Garcia and Snarr’s due process claim was reviewable because it challenged the 

propriety of their convictions and sentences, but the Court did not independently 

address the merits of Defendants’ statutory challenge. Snarr, 704 F.3d at 404.  

C. The decision in Ayestas makes clear that this Court erred in considering 
Defendants’ funding claim.  

 The Ayestas Court made clear that funding decisions under 18 U.S.C. § 3599 

are reviewable judicial decisions, and that indigent applicants are entitled to such 

funding if they demonstrate that the requested services are likely to “generate 

useful and admissible evidence” in support of a claim or defense that “is at least 

                                                
2 This Court recognized in Castro that a defendant was entitled to relief for denial of expert 
assistance if he showed “a denial of due process under Ake v. Oklahoma . . . or an abuse of 
discretion under 18 U.S.C. § 3006A.” Castro, 15 F.3d at 421. 

      Case: 10-40525      Document: 00514556730     Page: 9     Date Filed: 07/16/2018

A-51



10 
 
 
 
 

plausible.” Ayestas, 138 S. Ct. at 27 (internal quotations removed). The failure to 

review the Chief Judge’s orders denying approval of funding for abuse of 

discretion is clear error in light of Ayestas.  

Defendants shared substantial resources and services, including attorneys, 

experts, and investigators, at their joint trial. The expert testimony Dr. Haney 

would have provided jurors about the psychological effects of imprisonment, 

though in part particular to Garcia, also would have had a powerful impact on 

jurors’ abilities to understand Snarr’s behavior, history, and background. Indeed, 

the government’s case in aggravation against Snarr relied heavily on the capital 

crime and Snarr’s behavior while incarcerated. 

 Dr. Haney is an expert on the psychological effects of imprisonment, and 

how social and institutional factors influence an inmate’s prison adjustment. He 

could have explained to jurors the profound psychological effects of experiences in 

severe incarceration environments, and how those who have spent significant parts 

of their lives in prison—like Snarr and Garcia—go through a process called 

“prisonization.” It would be critical for jurors to understand how life in prison 

affected the Defendants’ psychological development and functioning, their 

behavior in institutional settings, and their actions in the course of events that gave 

rise to the criminal charges filed.  
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In addition to rebutting the aggravating evidence that addressed the heart of 

the government’s case advocating for a death sentence, Haney’s psychological 

expertise would have provided critical mitigating evidence about the circumstances 

of the crime and Snarr’s character, history, and background. See, e.g., Lockett v. 

Ohio, 430 U.S. 586, 605–06 (1978); Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 110 

(1982); Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 375, 384 (1988). Without Haney’s 

testimony, jurors were deprived of critical mitigating evidence necessary for them 

to make fair and accurate assessments of Snarr’s behavior.  

The Chief Judge applied a legally incorrect standard, which was an abuse of 

discretion and reversible error. Granted the opportunity to file supplemental 

briefing, Snarr can show that Haney’s expertise was “like[ly]” to “generate[d] 

useful and admissible evidence,” and the mitigating quality of that evidence and its 

usefulness in rebutting aggravating evidence are “plausible defense[s],” Ayestas, 

138 S. Ct. at 1094, so Defendants were entitled to his services.  

II. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT SNARR LEAVE TO FILE AN OUT-
OF-TIME PETITION FOR PANEL REHEARING 
 
Upon  recall  of  the  mandate,  the  Court  should grant  Snarr leave to file 

an out-of-time petition for panel rehearing. The reasons cited in support of Snarr’s 

motion to recall the mandate also support his request for permission to file an out-

of-time petition for panel rehearing for “good cause” and in the “interest of 
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justice.” Granting permission to file an out-of-time petition in light of an 

intervening change in the law is consistent with the precedent of the Supreme 

Court and this Court. See, e.g., Huddleston v. Dwyer, 322 U.S. 232, 237-38 (1944) 

(vacating decision denying a motion to file an out-of-time petition for rehearing in 

light of an intervening state court decision raising doubt as to the applicable state 

law); United States v. Middlebrooks, 624 F.2d 36, 37 (5th Cir. 1980) (after denial 

of first petition for rehearing, permitting the filing of second petition where an 

intervening Supreme Court decision changed the law applicable to the case). 

Therefore, this Court should grant Snarr’s motion for leave to file a petition for 

panel rehearing out-of-time. 

III. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE COURT SHOULD GRANT SNARR 
AN OUT-OF-TIME PANEL REHEARING OF THE CHIEF JUDGE’S 
DECISION TO DENY REQUESTED FUNDING 
 

 Pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. Rule 27(c), this Court “may review the action of 

a single judge.” In light of the substantial change in the law in this Circuit made 

clear in Ayestas and its impact on Defendants’ case, as discussed supra, Snarr 

requests that this Court recall its mandate and grant an out-of-time panel rehearing 

of the decision of the Chief Judge at issue in this case. 
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CONCLUSION 
 

Because Snarr has shown that a subsequent decision by the Supreme Court 

has rendered this Court’s previous appellate decision demonstrably wrong, this 

Court’s mandate should be recalled and leave to file an out-of-time petition for 

rehearing granted in order to prevent injustice in this capital case. 

Certificate of Compliance 

 Pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 32(g), undersigned counsel certifies that this 

motion contains a total of 2,759 words and complies with the type-volume 

limitations for motions in R. 27(d). 

Conferencing Statement 
 

Undersigned counsel conferenced this motion with counsel for the 

Government, Assistant United States Attorneys Joseph Batte and Traci Kenner and 

were advised that the Government would oppose the motion. 

 DATED this 16th day of July, 2018. 
 
     Respectfully Submitted,  
     /s/ Robert Lee___________ 
      
     Robert Lee (Mississippi Bar #9474) 
     2421 Ivy Road, Suite 301 
     Charlottesville, VA  22903 
     (434) 817-2970 
     (434) 817-2972 (fax) 
     roblee@vcrrc.org      
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     Federal Public Defender District of Utah 
     46 W. Broadway, Suite 110 
     Salt Lake City, UT  84101 
     (801) 524-4010 
     (801) 524-4060 (fax) 
     Kathy_Nester@fd.org 
      
     Attorneys for Mark Isaac Snarr 
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I HEREBY CERTIFY that July 16, 2018, the foregoing Motion to Recall the 

Mandate and for Leave to File Out-Of-Time Petition for Rehearing in Light of 

Ayestas v. Davis was served via the Court’s CM/ECF Document Filing System, 

upon registered CM/ECF user: 

Joseph Robert Batte 
Office of the United States Attorney 
350 Magnolia Street, Suite 150 
Beaumont, Texas 77701 
(409) 839-2538 
Email: joe.batte@usdoj.gov 
 
Traci Lynne Kenner 
Office of the United States Attorney 
110 N. College Avenue, Suite 700 
Tyler, Texas 75702 
(903) 590-1400 
Email: traci.kenner@usdoj.gov 

 
     /s/ Robert Lee___________ 
      
     Robert Lee (Mississippi Bar #9474) 
     2421 Ivy Road, Suite 301 
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IN THE  
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  

FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  
    Plaintiff-Appellee,  
 
 v.        No. 10-40525 
 
MARK ISAAC SNARR,  
EDGAR BALTAZAR GARCIA, Defendants-Appellants. 
 

 
On Appeal from the United States District Court  

for the Eastern District of Texas  
(E.D. Tex. Crim. No. 1:09cr15) 

 
CORRECTED 

PETITION FOR PANEL REHEARING 
 

Defendant-Appellant, Mark Isaac Snarr, hereby petitions this Court, 

pursuant to Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 40, for rehearing to bring 

before the panel specific errors of fact or law in this Court’s opinion in United 

States v. Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d 368 (5th Cir. 2013), confirming Defendants’ 

convictions and death sentences. More specifically, rehearing is sought to allow 

this Court to address the decision in Ayestas v. Davis, 138 S. Ct. 1080 (2018), 

overruling Circuit precedent that prevented the Court previously from reviewing 

Defendants’ Claim XIX alleging that the Chief Judge abused her discretion in 

denying reasonably necessary funding pursuant to federal statute.  
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 
 

Defendants Mark Isaac Snarr and Edgar Baltazar Garcia were tried jointly 

over their objections for the November 28, 2007, murder of fellow inmate Gabriel 

Rhones in the United States Penitentiary in Beaumont, Texas. United States v. 

Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d 368, 377 (5th Cir. 2013). One jury heard evidence and 

argument pertaining to both defendants, and was assigned responsibility for 

determining Defendants’ guilt and eligibility for a capital sentence, and for 

sentencing both defendants to death or life imprisonment for their capital 

convictions. Substantial portions of the evidence and arguments presented by the 

government and by the defense applied to both defendants, and counsel for either 

defendant assumed responsibility for making arguments and examining witnesses 

on behalf of both Defendants. In May, 2010, jurors determined that both Snarr and 

Garcia were guilty of murder and eligible for the death penalty, and sentenced both 

to death. Id. at 377–78.  

On appeal, Defendants raised numerous challenges, including a claim that 

this Court’s Chief Judge erred by overruling the district court and “partially 

reducing . . . funds Garcia requested for the retention of certain investigators and 

experts.” Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d at 378. Citing 18 U.S.C. § 3006A and United 

States v. Castro, 15 F.3d 417 (5th Cir. 1994), Defendants’ Claim XIX alleged that 
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the Chief Judge erred in denying pre-trial requests for reasonably necessary 

funding to be provided indigent defendants, and that the failure to properly apply 

the statute denied Defendants due process. See Castro, 15 F.3d at 421 (defendant 

was entitled to relief for denial of expert assistance if he showed “a denial of due 

process under Ake v. Oklahoma, . . . or an abuse of discretion under 18 U.S.C. § 

3006A.”). The government responded, arguing that Circuit precedent established 

that the Chief Judge’s denial of funding under the statute was not reviewable on 

appeal, and that there was not a denial of due process. On January 8, 2013, this 

Court affirmed Defendants’ convictions and death sentences, considering only the 

merits of the due process argument in Claim XIX, and finding that Defendants had 

failed to show the trial was fundamentally unfair. Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d at 

402–06. 

On March 21, 2018, the Supreme Court of the United States decided Ayestas 

v. Davis, 138 S. Ct. 1080, recognizing that funding decisions under 18 U.S.C. 

§3599 are reviewable judicial decisions, and correcting this Court’s interpretation 

of the standard applied to requests for funding made pursuant to §3599.  

Snarr now submits this Petition for Panel Rehearing and request for 

supplemental briefing to address the Supreme Court’s decision and remedy this 

Court’s error. 
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PANEL REHEARING SHOULD BE GRANTED  
TO ADDRESS THE DEMONSTRABLY WRONG DECISION  

REGARDING DEFENDANTS’ CLAIM XIX 

A. In Ayestas v. Davis, 584 U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 1080 (2018), the 
Supreme Court overruled Circuit precedent regarding the 
reviewability of funding decisions and the correct standard 
applicable to review funding decisions under 18 U.S.C. § 3599. 

 
In Ayestas v. Davis, the Supreme Court addressed the indigent petitioner’s 

claim that he was wrongly denied funding requested pursuant to federal statute that 

was reasonably necessary to prove entitlement to federal habeas relief. 584 U.S. 

___, 138 S. Ct. 1080, 1085 (2018). The Court first rejected the State’s argument 

that the Supreme Court (and the Court of Appeals) lacked jurisdiction to resolve 

the claim because “denial of petitioner’s funding request was an administrative, not 

a judicial, decision” and beyond the scope of each court’s jurisdiction to review. 

Ayestas, 138 S. Ct. at 1088–89. Instead, the Court found that funding decisions 

made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3599, while ex parte, are not non-adversarial, and 

those decisions are appealable judicial determinations. Id. at 1089–92. 

The unanimous Ayestas Court made clear that the standard applied to 

assessing the merits of applications for funding under § 3599 in this Court at the 

time of Defendant's trial was erroneous. 138 S. Ct. at 1085 (“lower courts applied 

the wrong legal standard, and we therefore vacate the judgment below and remand 

for further proceedings.”); id. at 1092–93; see also Riley v. Dretke, 362 F.3d 302, 
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307 (5th Cir. 2004) (“This Court has construed ‘reasonably necessary’ to mean that 

a petitioner must demonstrate ‘a substantial need’ for the requested assistance.”) 

The Court held that this Court’s requirement that a petitioner show “substantial 

need” in order to obtain funding for services requested pursuant to § 3599 was “not 

a permissible reading of the statute.” Id. at 1095. The Court held that the statute is 

less demanding, requiring only that the services are “reasonably necessary,” 

meaning that, “a reasonable attorney would regard the services as sufficiently 

important.” Id. at 1093. The Court vacated the judgment below and remanded 

Ayestas’s case, holding that the Fifth Circuit has applied a standard that is too 

demanding when determining whether to authorize funds sought by indigent 

individuals facing the death penalty for services provided by experts and 

investigators. See id. at 1092. The Court instructed that proper application of the 

“reasonably necessary” standard requires courts:  

to consider the potential merit of the claims that the applicant wants to 
pursue, the likelihood that the services will generate useful and 
admissible evidence, and the prospect that the applicant will be able to 
clear any procedural hurdles standing in the way.[1] To be clear, a 
funding applicant must not be expected to prove that he will be able to 
win relief if given the services he seeks. 
 

                                                
1 Ayestas was decided in the context of a federal habeas determination, but the statute (including 
the Fifth Circuit’s incorrect application) applies equally to pre-trial funding requests. See 18 
U.S.C. §3599(a)(1). 
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Ayestas, 138 S. Ct. at 1094. The standard does not, as the Fifth Circuit has 

required, mean that an individual seeking funding for services must show 

“substantial need.” Id. at 1092, 1095. Instead, it is sufficient for an applicant to 

demonstrate that the services are likely to “generate useful and admissible 

evidence” in support of “a plausible defense.” Ayestas, 138 S. Ct. at 1094.   

This Court has acknowledged that Ayestas rejected the standard previously 

used by this Circuit, and has begun reviewing cases involving denials of funding 

that occurred under application of the erroneous standard. See, e.g., Sorto v. Davis, 

716 Fed. Appx. 366 (5th Cir. Mar. 28, 2018) (noting that Ayestas, “rejected our 

Circuit’s standard for determining whether investigative funds pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. §3599(f) are ‘reasonably necessary’”); Robertson v. Davis, 2018 U.S. App. 

LEXIS 18311 (5th Cir. July 5, 2018) (holding that Ayestas “rejected our Circuit’s 

standard for determining whether investigative funds pursuant to § 3599(f) are 

‘reasonably necessary’” and vacating the 2013 order denying funding and 

remanding to the district court).  

B. Before the decision in Ayestas, the government argued successfully 
that, under Circuit precedent, Defendants could not appeal the 
Chief Judge’s statutory funding decision. 
 

Defendant’s Claim XIX appealed the Chief Judge’s significant denial of 

funds that precluded Defendants from obtaining the services of Dr. Craig Haney, 
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an expert in the impact of severe incarceration on physical and mental health. The 

claim relied on both the denial of due process and the Court’s abuse of discretion 

in denying funding reasonably necessary for the penalty phase of the joint capital 

trial. ECF No. 511565792 at 215 (Joint Brief for Appellants) (Standard of Review 

and Reviewability section relied on 18 U.S.C. § 3006A and United States v. 

Castro,2 15 F.3d 417, 421 (5th Cir. 1994)); see also id. at 232 (arguing that the 

Court made a clear error, and denied Defendants a fair trial). 

The government argued that the Chief Judge’s denial of funds was a non-

adversarial, administrative decision, rather than a judicial decision, and not 

reviewable on appeal. ECF No. 511895802 at 167–68 (Brief for USA). The 

government also argued that the correct standard for judging alleged violations in 

providing funding to indigent applicants was whether “the evidence is ‘both 

“critical” to the conviction and subject to varying expert opinion.’” Id. at 171 

(quoting Yohey v. Collins, 985 F.2d 222, 227 (5th Cir. 1993)). This Court found 

that Garcia and Snarr’s due process claim was reviewable because it challenged the 

propriety of their convictions and sentences, but did not independently address the 

merits of Defendants’ statutory challenge. Snarr and Garcia, 704 F.3d at 404.  

                                                
2 This Court recognized in Castro that a defendant was entitled to relief for denial of expert 
assistance if he showed, “a denial of due process under Ake v. Oklahoma, . . . or an abuse of 
discretion under 18 U.S.C. § 3006A.” Castro, 15 F.3d at 421. 
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C. The decision in Ayestas makes clear that this Court erred in 
considering Defendant’s funding claim. 

 The Ayestas Court made clear that funding decisions under 18 U.S.C. § 3599 

are reviewable decisions, 138 S. Ct. at 1090–91, and an indigent applicant is 

entitled to such funding if the applicant demonstrates that the services are likely to 

“generate useful and admissible evidence” in support of a claim or defense that “is 

at least plausible,” id. at 1094 (internal quotations removed). The failure to review 

the Chief Judge’s orders denying approval of funding for abuse of discretion is 

clear error in light of Ayestas.  

Defendants shared substantial resources and services, including attorneys, 

experts, and investigators, at their joint trial. The expert testimony Dr. Haney 

would have provided jurors about the psychological effects of imprisonment, 

though in part particular to Garcia, also would have had a powerful impact on 

jurors’ abilities to understand Snarr’s behavior, history, and background. Indeed, 

the government’s case in aggravation against Snarr relied heavily on the capital 

crime and Snarr’s behavior while incarcerated. 

 Dr. Haney is an expert on the psychological effects of imprisonment, and 

how a range of social and institutional factors influence an inmate’s prison 

adjustment. He could have explained to jurors the profound psychological effects 

of experiences in severe incarceration environments, and how those who have 
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spent significant parts of their lives in prison—like Snarr and Garcia—go through 

a process called “prisonization.” It would be critical for jurors to understand how 

life in prison affected the Defendants’ psychological development and functioning, 

their behavior in institutional settings, and their actions in the course of events that 

gave rise to the criminal charges filed.  

In addition to rebutting the aggravating evidence that addressed the heart of 

the government’s case advocating for a death sentence, Haney’s psychological 

expertise would have provided critical mitigating evidence about the circumstances 

of the crime and Snarr’s character, history, and background. See, e.g., Lockett v. 

Ohio, 430 U.S. 586, 605–06 (1978); Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 110 

(1982); Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 375, 384 (1988). Without Haney’s 

testimony, jurors were deprived of critical mitigating evidence necessary for them 

to make fair and accurate assessments of Snarr’s behavior.  

The Chief Judge applied a legally incorrect standard, which was an abuse of 

discretion and reversible error. Granted the opportunity to file supplemental 

briefing, Snarr can show that Haney’s expertise was “like[ly]” to “generate[d] 

useful and admissible evidence,” and the mitigating quality of that evidence and its 

usefulness in rebutting aggravating evidence are “plausible defense[s],” Ayestas, 

138 S. Ct. at 1094.  
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CONCLUSION 
 

Because Snarr has shown that a subsequent decision by the Supreme Court 

has rendered this Court’s previous appellate decision demonstrably wrong, this 

Court should grant the petition for panel rehearing and allow for supplemental 

briefing to be submitted. 

Certificate of Compliance 

 Pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 32(g), undersigned counsel certifies that this 

motion contains a total of 2,047 words and complies with the type-volume 

limitations in R. 35(b)(2). 

 DATED this 16th day of July, 2018. 
 
     Respectfully Submitted,  
     /s/ Robert Lee___________ 
      
     Robert Lee (Mississippi Bar #9474) 
     2421 Ivy Road, Suite 301 
     Charlottesville, VA  22903 
     (434) 817-2970 
     (434) 817-2972 (fax) 
     roblee@vcrrc.org      
 
     Kathryn N. Nester (Utah Bar #13967) 
     Federal Public Defender District of Utah 
     46 W. Broadway, Suite 110 
     Salt Lake City, UT  84101 
     (801) 524-4010 
     (801) 524-4060 (fax) 
     Kathy_Nester@fd.org 
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     Attorneys for Mark Isaac Snarr 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that July 16, 2018, the foregoing Petition for Panel 

Rehearing was served via the Court’s CM/ECF Document Filing System, upon 

registered CM/ECF user: 

Joseph Robert Batte 
Office of the United States Attorney 
350 Magnolia Street, Suite 150 
Beaumont, Texas 77701 
(409) 839-2538 
Email: joe.batte@usdoj.gov 
 
Traci Lynne Kenner 
Office of the United States Attorney 
110 N. College Avenue, Suite 700 
Tyler, Texas 75702 
(903) 590-1400 
Email: traci.kenner@usdoj.gov 

 
     /s/ Robert Lee___________ 
      
     Robert Lee (Mississippi Bar #9474) 
     2421 Ivy Road, Suite 301 
     Charlottesville, VA  22903 
     (434) 817-2970 
     (434) 817-2972 (fax) 

      roblee@vcrrc.org 
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